

Observatoire royal de Belgique Koninklijke Sterrenwacht van België Royal Observatory of Belgium

### Rapport annuel 2018 Jaarverslag 2018 Annual report 2018



Cover illustration: Space Pole Open Door Days 2018. (Credit: Timothy Jans/Royal Observatory of Belgium)

De activiteiten beschreven in dit verslag werden ondersteund door Les activités décrites dans ce rapport ont été soutenues par The activities described in this report were supported by

De POD Wetenschapsbeleid Le SPP Politique Scientifique The Belgian Science Policy



Het Europees Ruimtevaartagentschap L'Agence Spatiale Européenne The European Space Agency



De Nationale Loterij La Loterie Nationale The National Lottery

Nationale Loterij creëert kansen O créateur de chances Loterie Nationale

De Europese Gemeenschap La Communauté Européenne The European Community



Het Fonds voor Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek – Vlaanderen



Le Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique



### Table of contents

Preface	5
Reference Systems and Planetology	6
Contribution to the European Plate Observing System – EPOS	7
Legal Time	8
Rotation and Nutation on a Wobbly Earth	9
Radio Science on Mars	10
LaRa (Lander Radioscience)	10
Participation in the RISE experiment	11
Material properties and planetary interiors	13
Seismology and Gravimetry	15
Service to society	16
The expertise of the Observatory in metrology: the redefinition of the kilogram	17
Identifying sources of earthquakes in a fault zone in Chile	18
Study on vault collapses in the Han-sur-Lesse cave	19
The LARGE-MEM project	21
Astronomy and Astrophysics	22
Gaia's second data release	23
DPAC	23
Solar system objects	24
Radial velocities	24
Variability	25
Stellar parameter determination	25
The archive	26
Belgo-Indian Network for Astronomy and Astrophysics	27
Eclipsing binary system with pulsations: KIC 6048106, a case study from the Kepler space	20
	29
The real time evolution of Sakural's object	31
Solar Physics and Space Weather	33
PECASUS, a space weather service for the aviation sector	33
Exploring the Middle Corona	35
First Detection of Solar Flare Emission in Mid-ultraviolet Balmer Continuum	38
Size distributions of solar proton events and their associated soft X-ray flares based on the maximum likelihood estimator	40
Analysis and Results	40
Discussion	42

Next generation of JHelioviewer	.43
DigiSun: a tool to extract scientific data from sunspot drawings	.45
Communication and Information	.47
The Open Doors Days 2018	.48
Information to the public and authorities	.48
Website, news, press releases and social media	.49
The Heritage Days at the Ancient Observatory and other exhibitions	.49
Archives and museum	. 50
The Planetarium	.51
Daily activities	. 52
Special activities	. 52
Annex 1: Publications	. 54
Refereed publications	. 55
Publications without peer review	. 68
Other publications	.74
Annex 2: Workforce	.77

### Preface

This report describes the highlights of scientific activities and public services at the Royal Observatory of Belgium in 2018. A list of publications and the list of personnel are included at the end. Due to lack of means and personnel the report is only in English. If you need more or other information on the Royal Observatory of the Belgium and/or its activities please contact rob info@oma.be or visit our website http://www.astro.oma.be.

> Ronald Van der Linden Director General

## Reference Systems and Planetology

This Operational Directorate "Reference Systems and Planetology" contributes to the elaboration of reference systems and timescales, integrates Belgium in the international reference frames, and studies the interior, rotation, dynamics, and crustal deformation of the Earth and other terrestrial planets and moons of our solar system

- The principal activities are grouped into two general themes:
- 1. Space geodesy and timescales with GNSS (Global Navigation Satellite System), and
- 2. Rotation and interior structure of the Earth and other terrestrial planets and satellites.

### **Contribution to the European Plate Observing System - EPOS**



EPOS is one of the European Research Infrastructures in the Environmental research area. It focuses on the solid Earth domain and combines research infrastructures and their capital of human expertise, data, and services into one integrated system. It gathers input from geodesy, geology, seismology, volcanology, or geomagnetism. Together, they offer the key to understand the dynamic of the Earth system.

Supported by the European Commission H2020 EPOS Implementation Phase Project, 47 partners, amongst which the ROB, from 25 countries from all over Europe and several international organizations (ORFEUS<sup>1</sup>, EUREF<sup>2</sup>, EMSC<sup>3</sup>) are building up EPOS today.

On 30 October 2018, the European Commission granted the legal status of European Research Infrastructure Consortium (ERIC) to EPOS, with Belgium as one of its founding members. This was an important step in the implementation of EPOS.

The GNSS team of the Royal Observatory of Belgium contributes to the construction of the GNSS component of EPOS (GNSS: Global Navigation Satellite System). This component will consist of a European network of more than 3000 GNSS stations and will provide access to GNSS data, metadata and products, such as ground deformations.

We committed to provide from 2020 on operational services to EPOS: ground deformations from the EPN stations, a pan-European service that centralizes and validates the GNSS station metadata, a service that monitors the quality of GNSS data, and a European GNSS data node providing access to the data from the European and ROB GNSS stations. These services are a natural follow up of our 20 years of commitment as Central Bureau, Data Centre and Analysis Centre of the EUREF Permanent GNSS Network (EPN). Supported by BELSPO, we are presently upgrading our GNSS and EUREF infrastructure to respond to the EPOS needs.

Within EUREF, the Observatory computes operationally the multi-year coordinates/velocities of the EPN stations. They are updated each 15 weeks and their primary goal is to maintain the ETRS89, which is the European Terrestrial Reference System. Because the velocity field and its associated station position time series gives information on ground deformations valuable for geophysical research, the Observatory also provides these products to EPOS. Since 2018, these EUREF products are regularly delivered to EPOS.

A second EPOS service we provided became operational in 2018: our "Metadata Management and Dissemination System for Multiple GNSS Networks" (M<sup>3</sup>G) reached the level of maturity required for operational use in EUREF and EPOS and was introduced to the GNSS community. This system allows validating and distributing GNSS station metadata in a fully harmonized way within EUREF and EPOS. 113 European agencies already use M<sup>3</sup>G to submit, validate and distribute the metadata of their GNSS stations (1975 stations in total) which makes our GNSS metadata collection unique in Europe.

The Observatory European GNSS data node is presently under construction and is expected to become operational in 2019.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The non-profit foundation to coordinate and promote digital, broadband seismology in the European-Mediterranean area.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sub-commission of the International Association of Geodesy responsible for defining, maintaining, and providing access to the European Terrestrial Reference System (ETRS89)
<sup>3</sup> European Mediterranean Seismological Centre

### Legal Time

The Legal Time in Belgium was since 1892 based on the Greenwich Mean Time, i.e. a time scale determined by the rotation of the Earth and the associated path of the Sun in the sky. Since 1971, the official time in the world is now the Universal Time Coordinated, i.e. a time scale realized by a network of atomic clocks distributed in the world, among which 4 are at the Royal Observatory of Belgium. The increasing needs for precise timing and legal traceability in our electronic and digital world has pushed our scientists to propose, several years ago, a modification of the Belgian law on Time. The new law on Legal Time was finally voted at the Parliament on May 3, 2018. The law was published in the "Belgian Bulletin of Acts" on September 10. Legal Time in Belgium is now UTC + 1h (winter time) and UTC + 2h (summer time). A Royal Decree will complement this law to specify that both the Observatory and the Belgian Metrology Service (SMD) are responsible for the realization of the legal time and its dissemination.



### **Rotation and Nutation on a Wobbly Earth**

The Earth is composed of different layers: an inner core, an outer core, a mantle and a crust (see figure below on the left). The outer core is liquid and behave like shown in the figure below on the right. The Earth is also a rapidly rotating body, generating centrifugal force and Coriolis forces. The centrifugal pull makes its shape resemble a flattened ellipsoid. The Coriolis forces influence the fluid dynamics of the oceans and atmosphere but also of the fluid outer core. They can also support waves, giving rise to oscillatory motions known as inertial waves. Periodic variations of the Earth's rotation axis (nutations) can exchange angular momentum with the fluid core and excite these inertial modes. The small flattening of the core-mantle boundary (CMB) allows the inertial modes to exert torques on the mantle in addition to viscous torques. This interaction couples the rigid-body dynamics of the Earth with the fluid dynamics of the molten core.



Modelling of the Earth interior



Rotating sphere representing the fluid motions in the Earth liquid core

The team of the ERC RotaNut (Rotation and Nutation of a wobbly Earth) developed the first highresolution numerical model that solves simultaneously the dynamics of the mantle and the fluid motions in the fluid core. This method takes naturally into account dissipative processes in the fluid that are ignored in current nutation models.

One of the main results of the RotaNut team is that the Free Core Nutation (FCN) and the Chandler Wobble (CW), the two eigenmodes of the two-layer planet system, are the least damped. Viscous dissipation processes and the power associated with the global rotation in the fluid contribute mainly to the overall damping. There is also a fairly complex network of interactions between the FCN and modes with similar near-diurnal frequencies.

Furthermore, the team has worked on the effects of the magnetic field in these motions by adding the Lorentz forces on the fluid (in the Navier-Stokes motion equation) and by considering the induction equation (relating the changes in the magnetic field to the velocity induced field and the Ohmic dissipation). This is a fully magneto-hydrodynamic (MHD) problem that has allowed the team to consider the geodynamo effects on nutations.

In parallel, the group has worked on the effects of a topography at the core-mantle boundary on the fluid motions and has confirmed the strong impact on angular momentum transfer. The main results obtained by team show the existence of a mean azimuthal circulation (also called geostrophic flow) resulting from non-linear interactions in the fluid and the topographic torques at the CMB.

### **Radio Science on Mars**

### LaRa (Lander Radioscience)

Over the last decade, new data on the planet Mars, coming from several missions and observations on the Red planet, allow scientists to better understand Mars' interior, evolution and habitability. Data obtained through new space missions are the basis of the future progress in this field.

In 2020, ESA and the Russian space agency Roscosmos will launch the ExoMars2020 mission. It consists of a rover and a surface platform that will land on Mars on 2021. Belgium develops LaRa (Lander Radioscience), one of the platform instruments. The LaRa instrument (see the figure below) is built in collaboration with other Belgian actors under the lead of ESA PRODEX and ROB which provide the instrument specifications. It is composed of three antennas designed by UCLouvain and a transponder designed by Antwerp Space. LaRa will allow radio communications between Earth and the ExoMars 2020 surface platform Kazachok.



LaRa transponder and antennas Engineering Models

The transponder will catch the radio signals transmitted from Earth by the large antennas of the DSN (Deep Space Network) and will send them back without phases shift with respect to the uplink signals (see the figure below). The Earth ground stations will record the downlink signals and the LaRa scientific team will use them to accurately determine the rotation and orientation of Mars, and will deduce from that characteristics of the planet interior.



LaRa principle

Different models of the instrument parts were developed in 2018: the Thermal Model, the Structural Model, the Engineering Model and partly the Flight Model. The Engineering model that is built to test the functionalities of LaRa has been tested (see figure below on the left) at ESOC (European Space Operations Centre, in Darmstadt) and has the coherence of the instrument to be better than the requirements of the Royal Observatory of Belgium. The transponder is being built (see figure below on the right) for a delivery during the summer 2019.







Flight Model of the transponder while mounting the PCBs. Three PCBs are already mounted

The final tests will begin in 2019, after assembly of the different transponder parts. The antennas were tested against shocks and vibrations and the flight models are ready to be sent in July 2019 with the transponder to the Russian colleagues for integration on the surface platform Kazachok.

#### Participation in the RISE experiment

The Royal Observatory of Belgium also participates in the radio science experiment RISE (Rotation and Interior Structure Experiment) on the NASA mission InSight, which landed on Mars on 26 November 2018. Immediately after landing, our team determined its position, making possible for the HiRISE (High Resolution Imaging Science Experiment) camera of the NASA MRO (Mars Reconnaissance Orbiter) to take pictures of the lander, the heat shield and the parachute (see the figures below).



THEMIS camera image on NASA's 2001 Mars Odyssey orbiter. The red dot marks the landing location of NASA's InSight lander within the landing ellipse (blue)



Images of the parachute, the lander, and the heat shield of InSight that landed on November 26, 2018, in the region of Elysium Planitia. Copyright NASA

The Observatory participates in several studies to assess information about the deep interior of Mars that can be obtained from observations of its nutations with the RISE instrument and the LaRa instrument. Nutations are periodic variations of the planet rotation axis in space. In a first study, sources of inconsistencies between different published nutation series were identified and clarified so that confidence in the nutation series is now achieved at a level sufficiently accurate for scientific purposes. In a second study, the effect of the interior on the nutation amplitudes and on the period of rotational normal modes involved in a resonance with some of the nutations was considered.



Global maps of Mars vTEC expressed in TEC units (TECu = 1016 e-.m-2, where e- means electrons). The different maps correspond to the different outputs of the model for different seasons (in the Northern hemisphere) at local noon at the meridian origin

We also developed a new empirical model of the Total Electron Content (TEC) of the Martian ionosphere to be able to assess its influence on propagating radio signals. The model provides values for the vertical TEC (vTEC) for a given solar zenith angle, solar activity, and solar longitude in the two Mars hemispheres. The model can be used to support the data analysis of radio science experiments.

We showed that the Mars ionospheric contribution, even if it is generally smaller than the expected noise of the radio-science instruments, must be taken into account since its seasonal variations are of the same periods as those of the geophysical parameters that would be determined by the experiments (see the figure above). The ionospheric corrections should be applied even during moderate solar activity level, in particular for more accurate studies based on long term data (i.e. more than 1 Mars year), such as those aiming at studying the deep interior of the planet.

### Material properties and planetary interiors

Planetary interiors can be studied using space missions and Earth-based observations. Since those data generally provide information on global physical quantities instead of local ones, they have to be combined with physical data about the material components of the planet in order to optimize the science return. Geodesy data are ideally suited to infer properties of planetary cores. We therefore investigate thermodynamic and transport properties of core alloys and their effect on geodesy data.

In large rocky exoplanets, pressures in the core can exceed those in the Earth core by one order of magnitude. Such pressures are currently out of reach for laboratory experiments. To compensate the lack of data, most studies have relied on extrapolations of iron equations of state which are valid under Earth core conditions. However, several of these equations are not valid at extreme high pressures.



Comparison of the relative density difference in per cent between the new equation of state and different iron equations of state published in the literature

In collaboration with UGhent, we developed a new equation of state of hexagonal close packed (hcp) iron for super-Earth conditions based on density functional theory results. A comparison of this new equation of state with extrapolated iron equations of state from the literature reveals differences in density of up to 4% at 1 TPa (terapascal) and up to 20% at 10 TPa (see the figure above). Such density differences significantly affect mass-radius relations of exoplanets. Mass estimates can differ by as much as 10% for Earth-like super-Earths (core-radius fraction of 0.5) and 20% for Mercury-like super-Earths (core-radius fraction of 0.8). We integrated this equation of state in detailed models of super-Earth interior structure and also included the most recent data about mineral phases in the rocky mantle of massive exoplanets. Differences with older iron equations of state have been shown to be larger than the effect of uncertainties in temperature. Uncertainties in core and mantle compositions can create a spread in mass-radius curves that is much larger than the effect of using a not-well suited iron equation of state and dominate over observational uncertainties for many observed super-Earths.

For terrestrial planets of the solar system, one can perform laboratory experiments at planetary core pressure and temperature conditions. In particular, for Mercury, pressures at the top of the core can easily be reproduced in experimental setups because of its small size and exceptionally large core. Recent spacecraft data from the NASA MESSENGER mission indicate that silicon is the most likely light element in Mercury partially liquid core, but key thermodynamic properties of Fe-Si alloys, which are required to understand Mercury core dynamics, evolution and magnetic field, are currently missing.



European Synchrotron Radiation Facility in Grenoble, France

Core radius probability for different light elements and light element concentrations

Scientists from the Observatory, together with colleagues from VU Amsterdam, ULiège and KU Leuven, performed measurements to determine liquid Fe-Si density at pressures and temperatures relevant for Mercury core at the European Synchrotron Radiation Facility in Grenoble, France (see figure above on the left). The measurements will complement and extend the available density data of liquid Fe-Si and will enable the determination of an accurate equation of state for liquid Fe-Si. This equation of state is an essential ingredient to infer Mercury interior structure and its thermal evolution from spacecraft data, such as those from the ESA/JAXA BepiColombo mission launched in 2018.

In order to model the core of a terrestrial planet and to calculate the core alloy thermodynamic properties, we developed thermodynamic models of Fe-Ni-S and Fe-Ni-Si, based on the latest experimental data (see figure above on the right). Those modµels are used to infer the best information on the core of Mercury and Mars. For Mercury, the models are based on the newest polar moment of inertia value, estimated from MESSENGER radio science data, and the latest estimate of the tides. The estimated core radius confirms previous results that did not use the tidal data and that were based on a larger polar moment of inertia. The data cannot decide upon the existence of an inner core in contrast to results from American colleagues, who did not use the melting temperature to determine the inner core as we did. Mars models are based on the new thermodynamic model. Geodesy data indicate that the Martian core contains significantly more sulfur than previously thought, if sulfur is the only light alloy in the core. Those sulfur amounts are at odds with models that infer the composition of the core from geochemical data and formation histories. This indicates that other light elements must be present in the core, in accordance with models of the Martian core formation. The addition of a smaller amount of oxygen to an iron-sulfur core alloy with sulfur content consistent with geochemistry can explain the density of the core deduced from geodesy data.

# Seismology and Gravimetry

The main mission of the Operational Directorate "Seismology and Gravimetry" is studying variations of gravity and seismic activity, their causes and consequences. To support this scientific research and to provide the authorities, the media and the public with information about the seismic activity in real time in our region, this operational directorate develops and maintains a seismic network in Belgium.

### Service to society

65 natural earthquakes were located in or near Belgium in 2018. The largest, felt event was recorded on 25 May 2018 in Kinrooi (ML=3.1).

During the same period, the Royal Observatory of Belgium measured 21 induced events, 175 quarry blasts and controlled explosions. The catalogue is complete for natural earthquakes and contains a selection of quarry blasts and earthquakes induced by human activities, e.g. linked to (rock) mass removal in mines or geothermal exploitation. In 2018, there were at least 19 measurable explosions at sea. Most explosions are performed by the Belgian, Dutch or French Army to destroy WW1 and WW2 bombs. Explosions in the southern North Sea might be linked to oil and gas prospection in that area. 5 earthquakes, 4 induced events and 1 explosion were felt in the region in 2018. A controlled explosion of the old docks of the Schelde River in Antwerpen was felt on 1 July 2018.



Events recorded in 2018 by the Belgian Seismic Network of the Royal Observatory of Belgium

As usual, the Royal Observatory of Belgium provided expertise on seismic hazard to several partners: Engie-Electrabel (Brussels) for Belgian nuclear power plants, NIRAS-ONDRAF, FABI (Federation of the Belgian architect and engineers,) FANC-AFCN, the Crisis Centrum, IDEA (Intercommunale de développement économique et d'aménagement du coeur du Hainaut) and VITO (Vlaamse Instelling voor Technologisch Onderzoek). In particular, the ROB provided expertise concerning the earthquakes induced by the geothermal exploitation done by VITO at the Balmatt site in Mol.

T. Camelbeeck is member of the scientific council of EDF, which develops with industries the collaborative project SIGMA-2. It aims at improving data, methodologies and methods necessary to assess the seismic risk. This is done for different tectonic contexts and for different industries such as nuclear and Seveso ones.

In 2018, the ROB delivered this report to Engie-Electrabel: Kris Vanneste & Thierry Camelbeeck, Evaluation of Earthquake Level 2 (EL-2) hazard at outcropping rock for Belgian Nuclear Units: Capable-faults approach, Report: ROB-ENGIE 2018-01 version 2.

### The expertise of the Observatory in metrology: the redefinition of the kilogram

On November 16, 2018, in Versailles, the General Conference on Weights and Measures officially endorsed the new basic units of the International System of Units (SI; Système International d'Unités). Those units are based on seven constants, of which the speed of light *c*, the Avogadro constant  $N_A$ , and the Planck's constant *h*. This became effective on May 20, 2019. Hence, the kilogram will be officially redefined as a function of the Planck's constant, used in Einstein's energy formula: E = mc<sup>2</sup> = hv.

This change in definitions is necessary, since the use of the International Prototype Kilogram K, made of platinum and iridium, poses various problems. For example, there is no way to ensure its long-term stability. It might be destroyed or damaged, and it poses logistical problems when it has to be compared with its copies.



Hence, the meter, the kilogram and the second are now defined by the motions and energy of electrons, atoms and photons. However, the new constants will not be completely divorced from their historical ties. The numerical values of the constants will be such that at the time the definition is adopted, the continuity is ensured with the former system. Hence, the SI remains rooted to our home planet: originally, the meter was defined as 1/10,000,000 of the length of a quadrant of Earth's meridian, the second as 1/86,400 of the duration of the mean solar day, and the kilogram as the mass of one cubic decimeter of water.

Michel Van Camp and his colleagues at the Federal Institute of Metrology in Bern and the University of La Rochelle highlighted the importance of Earth sciences in the origin and realization of the SI. Their article was published on EOS, a magazine of the *American Geophysical Union*, and hit the headlines of the first issue of 2019 of the magazine.

### Identifying sources of earthquakes in a fault zone in Chile

The Royal Observatory of Belgium aims at identifying sources of earthquakes by searching for evidence of past earthquakes in the geologic record. Investigation is focused on Belgium and neighbouring areas, but expertise is also acquired in other regions of the world. This allows extending our knowledge of the seismic cycle of slowly slipping faults in the intracontinental context of our region, and thus contribute to a better assessment of seismic hazard.

Strong earthquakes often cause landslides that may be preserved as typical deposits in lakes and fjords. Previous studies have linked the triggering of different types of landslides to minimum shaking intensities and used empirical relations with earthquake magnitude and distance in a simple way to derive the most likely location and magnitude of the earthquake. We performed a study in cooperation with Ghent University, inspired by probabilistic seismic hazard assessment, to evaluate which fault section, and corresponding magnitude, in a zone of faults is the most likely earthquake source responsible for landslide deposits.



Tectonic setting of Aysén Fjord (blue label) with indication of the nearby faults of the LOFZ. South of the fjord, the QF bifurcates in two branches, which we denote as QF West and QF East. Adapted from Wils et al. (2018). LOFZ = Liquiñe-Ofqui Fault Zone; QF = Quitralco Fault

We apply our method to Aysén Fjord, located in southern Chile. An earthquake on one of these faults in 2007 caused various landslides, which are preserved in the fjord's sedimentary record, along with nine older landslide events. Our study could evidence the faults that most likely are responsible for those deposits. Our results, published in the Journal of Geophysical Research, confirm that most landslides are the result of earthquakes on faults in or around the fjord and that only a few could be the result of larger earthquakes on the subduction zone off the coast.

### Study on vault collapses in the Han-sur-Lesse cave

The Royal Observatory of Belgium led a study on the relationship between vault collapses in caves and earthquake activity.

Collapse activation is an ongoing process in the evolution of karstic networks related to the weakening of cave vaults. Because collapses are infrequent, few have been directly observed, making it challenging to evaluate the role of external processes in their initiation and triggering.

A team of scientists led by the Observatory studied the two most recent collapses in the Dôme chamber of the Han-sur-Lesse Cave (Belgian Ardenne) that occurred on or shortly after 3rd December 1828 and between the 13th and 14th of March 1984.



The "Dôme" Chamber in the Han-sur-Lesse Cave. A. Map of the Dôme chamber with indication of the location of historical collapses. B. W-E section of the chamber. Stratigraphic column: MHF = Mont d'Haurs Formation —
FM = Flohimont member (base of the Fromelennes Formation) — FF = continuation of the Fromelennes Formation

The team found evidences suggesting that the two historical collapses in the Dôme chamber of the Han-sur-Lesse cave was induced by the 23 February 1828 Central Belgium and the 8 November 1983 Liège earthquakes.

In the study, published in the journal Geomorphology, the scientists argue that the earthquakes accelerated the cave vault instability, leading to the collapses by the action of other factors weakening the host rock. In particular, the 1828 collapse was likely triggered by a smaller Mw = 4.2 nearby earthquake. The 1984 collapse followed two months of heavy rainfall that would have increased water infiltration and pressure in the rock mass favoring destabilization of the cave ceiling.

The study suggests that earthquakes could play a stronger role than previously thought in initiating cave collapses and opens new perspectives for studying collapses and their chronology both in the Han-sur-Lesse Cave and in other karstic networks.



The 1984 collapse in the Dôme chamber of the Han-sur-Lesse Cave. A. Photograph taken one week after the wall collapse; B. Current state of the same area of the screen. Flood muds have invaded much of the scree's surface; C. Overview of the scree cone at the present time. The right wall is sculpted in the Flohimont member, which has a low mechanical strength; D. Development of a speleothem since the 1984 collapse essentially consisting of a pool and blocks covered with calcite. The photo covers an area around 1 m wide

### The LARGE-MEM project

The LARGE-MEM project is a small-scale but dense noise-based study aiming at better understanding rainfall and groundwater storage effects on seismic velocities measured by a dense seismic network. The goal of LARGE-MEM is to demonstrate that the actual quantity and location of water in the subsurface can be estimated from measurements using a LargeN array, i.e. a dense seismic network.

To achieve this, one LargeN array consisted in a mixture of roughly 40 one- and three-component seismic sensors, on a regular grid (400x400m) was installed above the forested hill above the Membach underground laboratory. The data from superconducting and absolute gravimeters located in a gallery under the study site will be used to measure precisely the mass of water sampled by the seismic waves.



Map view of the Membach Hill (left) and 3D view (right) of the hill with the zone if larger influence on the gravimeters in the laboratory (purple). The village of Membach is located 1.2 km to the NW. The location of the underground laboratory (green triangle) and the Large-N array proposed for the project (magenta diamonds) are shown on the hillshaded, coloured and contoured topography

In 2018, the field surveys of the LargeMEM project were a success and the data is now ready for processing. The initial processing with the "summer deployment" data show a link between seismic velocities and radar-deduced rainfalls on the forested hill.

LARGE-MEM is a 149 950€ project funded by the Brain.BE action "Pioneering Projects" of Belspo, the Belgian Science Policy Office. The project runs from January 2017 to April 2019.

## Astronomy and Astrophysics

The astronomers of the Operational Directorate "Astronomy and Astrophysics" do research in astronomy and they also observe solar system objects. Stellar evolution, mass loss of stars, variable and multiple stars as well as rapidly rotating stars are studied. Astrometry of minor planets is carried out and planetary satellites are observed. The researchers are active in the preparation and/or reduction and interpretation of data coming from dedicated observational campaigns, large scale surveys and space telescopes.

The service maintains databases and provides software for scientists. General information on astronomical and related phenomena are given to the public and to the press. Digitisation and archiving of photographic plates is also a task of this group.

### Gaia's second data release

On April 25, 2018, the second data release of the Gaia satellite (Gaia DR2) was made public. Gaia determines highly accurate positions, distances and velocities of a large number of stars, substantially increasing our knowledge of our Milky Way. Scientists of the Royal Observatory of Belgium, funded by Belspo through the ESA-PRODEX programme, contribute to the huge effort of turning the raw Gaia data into astrophysically meaningful quantities.

The Gaia satellite was launched at the end of 2013. Since then, it continuously scans the sky with its two telescopes, repeatedly and accurately measuring the positions of an enormous number of stars (going down to magnitude 21). By seeing how these positions change over time, Gaia can also measure the proper motion of each star. Furthermore, the Gaia satellite contains a photometric instrument made of a Blue and Red Photometer (BP and RP, respectively) that covers the 320 – 1000 nm wavelength range, and a Radial Velocity Spectrometer, which uses the Doppler Effect to measure the velocity in our line of sight. From the BP/RP photometry, stellar parameters can be determined.

Based on only 22 months of data, Gaia DR2 already contains an impressive number of results, as shown in the figure below. Compared to what was known previously, Gaia DR2 goes a hundred times deeper, is a thousand times more accurate, and contains ten thousand times more stars. For many of these stars, there is also colour information, and a substantial number have their stellar parameters determined. While Gaia is mainly intended for stellar work, it also observes objects in our Solar system, and information about a number of minor planets is included in Gaia DR2.



An overview of the number of data present in Gaia-DR2. Credit: ESA

#### DPAC

The analysis of all Gaia data is done by the Data Processing and Analysis Consortium (DPAC). This is a collaboration between some 450 scientists and software developers from over 20 countries. The Royal Observatory of Belgium, as well as other Belgian groups, are part of that consortium. The work in DPAC is spread over a number of Coordination Units (CUs), each being responsible for a specific part of the data processing. Scientists of the Royal Observatory of Belgium contribute to CU4 (Object Processing – which includes Solar System Objects), CU6 (Spectroscopic Processing), CU7 (Variability Processing), CU8 (Astrophysical Processing) and CU9 (Catalogue Access).

### Solar system objects

Since Gaia is scanning the sky, thereby observing everything that comes in its field of view, the data that Gaia transmits to the ground station also contain solar system objects. The Solar System Objects (SSO) team within CU4 of DPAC takes care of the data concerning solar system objects, and asteroids in particular. The Royal Observatory of Belgium is active within this team, and is specifically involved in the transformation of the observed positions in the focal plane of Gaia to coordinates in the sky.



This sky map in equatorial coordinates (right ascension horizontally and declination vertically) shows the asteroid detections in the DR2 catalogue. The wavy band is the concentration of the asteroids near the ecliptic. Irregularities come from Gaia's scanning law: with only 22 months of observations, some regions in the sky have been observed more often than others

Gaia is expected to observe about 300 000 asteroids, plus some comets and satellites. Major planets are too bright and extended to be observed by Gaia. However, DR2 was the first data release containing asteroids, and was therefore treated as a test case. We selected a subset of 14 000 well-known asteroids, based on some quality criteria. One of the conditions for an asteroid to be selected for DR2 was that it would be observed at least 9 times by Gaia, so that an accurate orbit could be computed from the Gaia positions alone. The orbits themselves were not published, but were used to assess the quality of the positions: the residuals, i.e. the differences between the observed positions and those computed from an orbit, tell us whether the errors on the positions are in agreement with the computed uncertainties. The validation shown an excellent agreement for objects fainter than magnitude 10. However, brighter asteroids showed errors systematically larger than the computed uncertainties and were therefore removed from the output catalogue.

### **Radial velocities**

To determine the radial velocities of the stars, scientists of the Royal Observatory of Belgium make use of the spectra from the Radial Velocity Spectrometer (RVS). An example spectrum is shown in the figure below. The wavelength range covered is rather small, but for most stars it contains a sufficient number of spectral lines for the radial velocity to be determined. Because of its small wavelength range, the RVS instrument cannot reach the faintest stars that are detected by the other Gaia instruments. Its ultimate performance is expected to reach approximately magnitude 16 (in the RVS band), but for Gaia DR2 the analysis was limited to magnitude 12.

The Royal Observatory of Belgium is specifically involved in the Single and Multi Transit Analysis: each time a sufficiently bright star crosses the focal plane, the RVS instrument takes a spectrum. In the Single Transit Analysis, this spectrum is then compared with a theoretical spectrum, where the spectral lines are at their rest wavelength. Four different techniques are applied to measure the Doppler shift of the observed spectrum. In the Multi Transit Analysis, the time series of radial velocities is analysed to provide information on the constancy or variability of the stars. Average radial velocity values of constant stars have been published in DR2.



An example of an RVS spectrum. Credit: ESA

The figure below shows Gaia DR2 heliocentric radial velocities of over 677 thousand stars in the Galaxy. These stars have been selected because they have reliable position coordinates in other large sky survey catalogues. Blue colours show negative radial velocities of stars approaching the Sun, while red colours mark receding stars. The cyan and yellow colours show intermediate radial velocities. The radial velocities in different directions result from the rotation of the Galaxy and the Sun's motion between the stars. Gaia observes more stars towards the galactic equatorial plane shown in white in the background image. Galactic regions with dense dusty clouds obscuring the stars are shown in grey and black.



Gaia all-sky radial velocity map combined with ESA's Gaia First Sky Map of stars in the Galaxy. It shows the colourcoded average radial velocities of over half a million stars in DR2. Blue colours mark approaching stars, while red colours show receding stars. Credit: ESA/Gaia/DPAC/A. Lobel

### Variability

The ROB also contributed to the results of the variable stars, specifically the characterization of variable sources and the period determination. Gaia data on a selected number of Cepheid and RR Lyrae stars were studied in more detail.

#### Stellar parameter determination

The BP/RP, RVS, and astrometric data are further used to make at first a classification of the sources that have been observed by identifying their nature (e.g., stars, binary stars, emission line stars, white dwarf, galaxy, quasars), then perform their parametrization in terms of astrophysical (i.e. effective temperature, surface gravity, chemical abundances) and fundamental (i.e. mass, radius, absolute magnitude) parameters. While the BP and RP photometers will also provide dispersed photometry for

the future releases, in DR2 the calibrated integrated magnitude values in all three photometric bands (G,  $G_{BP}$ ,  $G_{RP}$ ) were already available and used (see figure below) to provide an estimate of the effective temperature of about 161 million stars, as well as the magnitude of the interstellar reddening towards 88 million among these. This represents a real breakthrough in astronomy, as up to April 2018 only a small fraction (~7 percent) of these stars had spectral type information available in Simbad, the main astrophysical database available at the Centre de Données de Strasbourg (France).



The HR diagram of Gaia: GBP/GRP/G magnitudes and parallaxes were used to estimate the temperature, interstellar extinction, and luminosity of millions of stars. Credit: ESA/Gaia/DPAC, CC BY-SA 3.0 IGO

#### The archive

The ROB also contributed to making the data ready for publication in the archive. Besides the validation work done in each of the separate Coordination Units, it also took part in writing the documentation and testing the archive before it came online. The archive can be accessed at <a href="https://gea.esac.esa.int/archive/">https://gea.esac.esa.int/archive/</a>.

On the day of the public release, the ROB and other Belgian groups participated in the European-wide public outreach for this event. TV and radio interviews with ROB scientists allowed them to explain to a wide audience the importance of this data release for our knowledge of the Milky Way.

### **Belgo-Indian Network for Astronomy and Astrophysics**

The Devasthal observatory is a new astronomical site in India, located at a 2450 meters of altitude in the Kumaun region of the Himalaya. It is operated by the Aryabhatta Research Institute of Observational Sciences (ARIES; Nainital, India) and currently hosts three telescopes: a 1.3-m optical telescope and two "Indo-Belgian" telescopes. The 3.6-m Devasthal Optical Telescope (DOT; figure below, middle and right) received this status because it has been constructed by AMOS (Advanced Mechanical and Optical Systems; Liège, Belgium) with the financial support of 2,000,000 € from the Belgian Federal Science Policy Office (Belspo). In return for the financial aid, 7% of the telescope time with the DOT is allocated for projects lead by Belgian astronomers during the first 5 years of scientific observations. The 4-m International Liquid Mirror Telescope (ILMT; figure below, left) is a Belgian initiative lead by members of the University of Liège in collaboration with institutes in India (ARIES; Nainital) and Canada (Québec, Montréal, Toronto, Vancouver, and Victoria).



The building of the 4-m ILMT (left) and the dome (middle) of the 3.6-m DOT (right)

The "Belgo-Indian Network for Astronomy and astrophysics" (BINA) was created to increase the interaction between Indian and Belgian astronomers and to stimulate the common use of the Indo-Belgian telescopes and other telescopes of interest to maximize their scientific output for solar system, celestial objects. The proposal for this bilateral project was submitted jointly in 2014 by P. De Cat of the Royal Observatory of Belgium (Belgian PI) and S. Joshi of ARIES (Indian PI). It was approved on 15/12/2014 and 05/05/2016 by Belspo and the International Division, Department of Science and Technology (DST; Govt. of India), respectively. The network that emerged from this collaboration is still expanding and currently involves colleagues from six Belgian and thirteen Indian institutes.

The 1st BINA workshop was successfully hosted by ARIES in Nainital (India) on 15-18/11/2016 with the aim to establish close collaborations between Indian and Belgian astrophysicists and to discuss the first- and second-generation instruments of these new Indo-Belgian telescopes. The 2nd BINA workshop was held at the Royal Observatory of Belgium on 09-12/10/2018. The Local Organizing Committee was chaired by P. De Cat. The Scientific Organizing Committee consisted of 4 scientists from India and 5 scientists from Belgium and was chaired by Dr P. Lampens from the Royal Observatory of Belgium.

This second workshop was organized to promote BINA as an expanding international collaboration. This goal was met as almost half of the 48 participants on site were foreigners, including 18 colleagues from India. Most Indian participants received financial help from the BINA project to attend this event. During the workshop, it was highlighted that an Indo-Belgian collaboration gives access to a large arsenal of telescopes and instruments to both sides, opening the door to many scientific fields/applications. Both countries have confirmed their wish to provide the DOT with an efficient high-resolution spectrograph and are willing to pursue this goal together, even if large efforts will be needed to achieve it. Recording of the workshop, and the PDF files of the corresponding presentations, were gathered on a dedicated website (http://aa.oma.be/18bina).

The scientific programme consisted of three major sections: (1) instrumentation, (2) data & science with the Indo-Belgian telescopes, and (3) data & science with other telescopes of interest. The science covered a large diversity of topics ranging from the Solar System (comets, asteroids & NEA's, space debris) via exo-planets (exo-planetary science) to galactic and extra-galactic astronomy. Such a diversity of topics is unusual in most scientific conferences, where the focus generally lies on a specific domain in astronomy.



Poster (left) and workshop picture (right) of the 2nd BINA workshop

Various invited reviews highlighted the connection between efficient instrumentation and quality of the scientific output, whether the instruments are equipping larger telescopes or smaller telescopes. The instrumentation currently available and offered at Indian and Belgian telescopes, as well as the recent improvements, future developments, and potential upgrades (adaptive optics) were presented against the background of actually very relevant scientific questions. The multi-wavelength (large) coverage of various instruments, both on the ground and in space, was highlighted in many talks. The presentation by AMOS was another example of expertise in high-technological instrumentation for astronomical research. It is clear that several highly performant instruments are/will be available to the astronomical communities in the (near) future.

Concerning studies of small bodies of/in the Solar System, a variety of observational techniques were discussed. The need for extended observations (when the objects are distant and fainter) and high-resolution spectroscopy (chemical characterization) was highlighted. In stellar physics, the need for (spectroscopic) follow-up of space missions, for chemical tagging (detailed abundance analyses), the influence of binary star evolution and of massive stars, early stellar formation, stellar associations (clusters), stellar rotation (young clusters), as well as (various types of) stellar populations and pulsations were topics of discussion and high interest. The talks about galaxies, their stellar and dust content, their evolution (galactic archaeology), their environments and interactions were both stimulating and inquisitive. In the extra-galactic domain, the results of (multi-wavelength) studies of exotic objects such as AGN's and blazars, radio galaxies, the search for (strong) gravitational lensing were also nicely presented and summarized.

Notwithstanding the broad range of topics, the interest of all the participants for the different science cases was genuine, and this was possible thanks to a friendly atmosphere and personal contacts, and the goal of developing scientific collaboration in which the whole workshop was embedded. The final impressions, provided by Prof. Prugniel (Observatoire de Lyon, France) as an external reviewer, confirmed that this workshop has been a success, and should not be the last of its kind. The proceedings of the workshop will be published in the Bulletin de la Société Royale des Sciences de Liège, which is an open-access, peer-reviewed journal.

### Eclipsing binary system with pulsations: KIC 6048106, a case study from the *Kepler* space mission

**Pulsating stars** are stars whose internal layers undergo oscillations due to an intrinsic (pulsation) mechanism. The A/F-type ( $\delta$  Scuti and/or  $\gamma$  Dor) pulsating stars are in a state of transition of their envelopes where the outgoing energy experiences the change from radiative (for hotter envelopes) to convective transport (for cooler envelopes). Such stars may pulsate in two distinct regimes of frequencies caused by two different mechanisms: that of the acoustic modes and that of the gravity modes. Some A/F-type stars pulsate in both regimes simultaneously. Knowledge of their fundamental stellar parameters along with that of their pulsation characteristics - which allow to probe the stellar interiors - helps refining the physics of the models. When such stars are members of a binary system, they provide even more accurate and model-free fundamental parameters than in the case of their single counterparts.

We present a model for KIC 6048106, an eclipsing binary with a period of about 1.6 d, based on *Kepler* space photometry and the modelling code PHOEBE. An **eclipsing binary** is a system of two stars whose components move in an orbit located in a plane which is parallel to the line of sight of the observer, and which produces eclipse phenomena at regular times. We performed a separate modelling of three segments of the *Kepler* light curve which show a long-term modulation possibly caused by spots. In short, KIC 6048106 is an Algol-type binary with F5-K5 components moving in a near-circular orbit with an orbital period of 1.559361 ± 0.000036 d, which also shows a change of the order  $\Delta P/P \sim 3.6 \ 10^{-7}$  in 287 ± 7 days. The primary component is a main-sequence star with the following properties: T<sub>eff1</sub> = 7033 ± 187 K, M<sub>1</sub>= 1.55 ± 0.11 M<sub>0</sub>, R<sub>1</sub>= 1.57 ± 0.12 R<sub>0</sub>. The secondary component is a cool subgiant with the following properties: T<sub>eff2</sub> = 4522 ± 103 K, M<sub>2</sub>= 0.33 ± 0.07 M<sub>0</sub>, R<sub>2</sub>= 1.77 ± 0.16 R<sub>0</sub>. The second quadrature phase in the light curve shows a brightness modulation on a time scale of 290 ± 7 days, from which we have concluded that many small near-polar spots are present on the secondary's surface. Our study thus reveals a stable binary configuration along with evidence of long-term activity (possibly of magnetic origin) linked to the secondary star (see figure below).



In this plot we show the spatial configuration of the binary model for KIC 6348106 for three stages of spot evolution and different orbital phases: phase 0.0 (primary minimum), phase 0.25 (first quadrature), phase 0.5 (secondary minimum) and phase 0.75 (second quadrature)





Top: Part of the original light curve (in red) compared with the contribution of pulsation (in black). Middle: Contribution of pulsations reproduced as the sum of sinusoidal fits to all detected frequencies, excluding the orbital frequency and its harmonics. Bottom: the preliminary binary light curve which was used to calculate the best-fitting model

Detected p modes in the range 7-24 d-1 with a regular mean spacing very close to the value of the orbital frequency ( $\Delta v = 0.64113 \pm 0.00027$  d-1). The dotted lines in the top panel indicate the boundaries  $\Delta v \pm 3\sigma$ . The dotted lines of the bottom panel (in red) show the orbital harmonics

This binary system holds an intermediate-mass hybrid pulsator (figure above on the left, middle panel) for which we performed a new asteroseismic analysis (study of the seismology of the stellar interiors). Based on our model for the system and the corresponding set of fundamental stellar parameters for its components, we obtained the residual light curve after removal of the binary model, including the long-term brightness modulation. We then used Fourier analysis in combination with least squares optimization to study the residual light curve. We identified seven dominant gravity modes and 34 acoustic modes of much lower amplitude. The dominant gravity modes, located in the frequency range 1.96-2.85 d-1, show a mean spacing of  $\Delta P = 1518 \pm 132$  s. The acoustic frequencies are located in the ranges 7.49-15.2 d-1 and 19-22.5 d-1. From its position in the Hertzsprung-Russell diagram, we conclude that the primary component is the source of the detected hybrid pulsations. Consequently, the pulsation constants of the acoustic frequencies indicate the possible presence of the fundamental radial mode ( $Q = 0.033 \pm 0.007 d$ ). The remaining acoustic frequencies in that range are then radial or non-radial overtone modes. Moreover, most acoustic modes show an obvious equidistant splitting with orbital frequency (see figure above, on the right), which we interpret as tidal splitting. This is one of the first studies where such splitting can be attributed to tidal effects in perfect agreement with theoretical computations made by Smeyers & Reyniers (2003).

### The real time evolution of Sakurai's object

When low- to middleweight stars like our Sun are near the end of their lives, they become red giant stars casting off their outer layers of gas and dust into space in a series of thermal pulses. Subsequently, the central star will start to heat up and ionize the ejected material, creating planetary nebulae. When all of its nuclear reactions cease, the star starts to cool and fade, becoming a white dwarf while the planetary nebula expands and dissolves into the interstellar medium.

This describes the usual evolutionary path, but in some cases the central star will experience one final thermal pulse after it has gone through the planetary nebula phase and has already started to cool. This is called a very late thermal pulse, which dramatically changes the evolution of the star. The star very quickly swells up to become a red giant again and expels the remaining atmosphere in the process. This forms a new planetary nebula inside the old one. Theory predicts that 10 - 20% of central stars should undergo a very late thermal pulse, but only a handful of objects have been observed. Of those, only two have been discovered shortly after the very late thermal pulse: V605 Aql in 1919 and V4334 Sgr in 1996 (a.k.a. Sakurai's object, after the Japanese amateur astronomer who made the discovery). Since it was not possible in 1919 to continue observing V605 Aql with contemporary instrumentation, Sakurai's object is the only well-studied example of a very late thermal pulse.

The evolution after its very late thermal pulse is extremely fast (much faster than theoretically predicted) and can be followed in real time. This implies that Sakurai's Objects gives us a truly unique opportunity to study the evolution of the central star and the formation of a new planetary nebula by monitoring the changes in this object. This is what an international team led by scientists from the Royal Observatory of Belgium has been doing on a yearly basis since 2005 using state-of-the-art instrumentation from the European Southern Observatory: the Very Large Telescope (VLT) and the Atacama Large Millimeter Array (ALMA) located in Chile. With ALMA we obtained spectra in the range 1.22 - 1.43 mm in which we detected various molecules: CO, CN, and HC3N (see figure below).



ALMA spectra. We detect CO, CN, HC3N, and 13C isotopologues

The CO and HC3N emission was spatially unresolved, but surprisingly the CN emission showed a bipolar structure (see figure below, above) that coincided with the lobes seen by HJ14. We detected the dust continuum, which was also spatially unresolved. In the optical spectra we see two sets of lines. The first is a set of nebular lines (recombination lines of hydrogen and helium, as well as forbidden lines of heavier elements) that was first detected in 1998 (helium) and 2001 (forbidden lines). These originate in the lobes detected by HJ14 (see the third figure below).



Above, from left to right: Ks images obtained in 2010 and 2013 (HJ14), our CN and CO emission images from ALMA. Below: position-velocity image of the [N II] 658.3 nm line showing the velocity along the x-axis and spatial scale along the y-axis. The graph at the right shows the spatial displacement, which corresponds well with the bipolar lobes (HJ14)

Since 2013 we see a second set of emission lines emerging. Not all lines are identified yet, but the strongest are electronically excited lines of CN (see figure on the right). They originate much closer to the central star than the nebular lines.

The combination of these results allowed us to reach the following interpretation. Sakurai's object ejected its remaining envelope in the 1990's. Soon afterwards, there was a brief strong shock, forming the nebular lines detected from 1998 onwards. This shock likely was caused by faster ejecta hitting slower ejecta. This shocked material then started cooling. A disk containing all the dust and likely also the bulk of the molecules also formed very quickly. Since 2008,



The complex of CN lines which have been increasing in strength since 2013

we see the nebular lines steadily brightening. Using the data obtained with the X-Shooter instrument on the VLT, we could prove that these lines are excited in the bipolar lobes. There must be an increased mass loss, which could be funneled by the disk into a jet and is now hydrodynamically shaping the bipolar lobes. The nebular lines are formed in a strong bow-shock at the end of the bipolar lobes. The optical CN emission is possibly formed where the molecular wind is funneled by the disk in a bow shock, or alternatively is excited by ultraviolet radiation from the central star. The CN could be formed by dissociation of HCN in the shock and then carried into the lobes. This would agree with the ALMA observations that show that the CN emission coincides with the bipolar lobes seen by HJ14. This implies that we now have a unique and detailed data set following the very early stages of the formation of a bipolar nebula in time.

# Solar Physics and Space Weather

The Operational Directorate "Solar Physics and Space Weather" studies the outer layers and the atmosphere of the Sun, with a particular focus on solar activity and the influence it exerts on the Earth and its space environment (space weather).

### PECASUS, a space weather service for the aviation sector

In its 215th Session (29 Oct - 16 Nov, 2018) the Council of ICAO, the International Civil Aviation Organisation, has selected "PECASUS" as one of its 3 World Centres for Space Weather services. PECASUS is the Pan-European Consortium for Aviation Space Weather User Services (http://pecasus/eu) under the lead of FMI (Finland).

Several of the core tasks of the PECASUS Consortium will be hosted at the ROB. This includes the Solar Expert Group and the Advisory Production hub. Also, the GNSS section at ROB will provide Solar Radio Burst observations. Partners at BIRA will contribute the Radiation Expert Group and the RMI will assist for 24h/7d aspects.

Sporadic and massive eruptions of very high-energy matter and radiation from the Sun can have a pronounced impact on the



aeronautical ability to aviate, navigate and communicate. In extreme cases, these eruptions pose a safety risk to passenger health. Periods of extreme solar activity are generally referred to as space weather. The exposure of the aviation community to space weather has increased since the opening of the northern polar routes at the end of the 20th century and ICAO has acted to incorporate safety from space weather effects into its aviation regulations.

The PECASUS consortium was established in response to the ICAO State Letter (AN 10/1-IND/17/11) released in June 2017. The countries forming the PECASUS consortium are Finland (Lead), Belgium, UK, Poland, Germany, Netherlands, Italy, Austria, and Cyprus. The PECASUS consortium was audited in February 2018 by space weather and operational management experts, nominated by the World Meteorological Organisation (WMO). The audit addressed a broad spectrum of criteria including institutional, operational, technical and communicational categories. PECASUS was declared fully compliant in all criteria with no areas for improvement identified.



### **Exploring the Middle Corona**

Two primary instruments used for observing the morphology of the solar atmosphere are EUV imagers (EUV: extreme ultraviolet) and coronagraphs. The middle panel of the figure below is an image of the Sun made by the SWAP EUV imager on the ESA PROBA2 satellite operated from the Royal Observatory of Belgium. It shows the solar atmosphere in EUV, observing the Sun at a temperature around 600,000 degrees Celsius. The instrument is able to do this by filtering out all the other wavelengths, allowing us to observe just a small section of the electromagnetic spectrum. The temperatures SWAP sees make it ideal for observing the solar atmosphere, in particular the *solar corona*. The solar atmosphere is seen as a central *solar disk*, which is very bright in the center of the image, and the *off-limb* solar atmosphere surrounding it. The emission diminishes with distance from the disk, due to the density dropping with height.



Two common methods used for imaging the solar atmosphere. The left panel shows a LASCO coronagraph image, where the bright solar disk has been blocked out. The middle image shows an image from the PROBA2 SWAP instrument in the EUV section of the electromagnetic spectrum. The right panel shows the two previous images superimposed on each other allowing us to see the true extent of the atmosphere

The solar atmosphere is not uniform. It is composed of bright structures (the *Active Regions*), dark regions (the *Coronal Holes*, regions of lower or cooler emission) and the remainder, which is known as the *Quiet Sun*. All of these structures are created by magnetic fields generated deep within the Sun in the Convection Zone, extending out through the surface and permeating the atmosphere. They are made visible by the hot plasmas trapped upon them.

The Active Regions are formed of tight bundles of magnetic field and can cause violent eruptions when the fields become unstable. The coronal holes are created by magnetic fields extending far out into the heliosphere, allowing plasma to flow away from the lower solar atmosphere, creating regions that are cooler and appear darker.

The Sun undergoes an 11-year activity cycle, in which the number of Active Regions wax and wane. The images in the figure above were taken on 2014-Apr-18 when the Sun was near the maximum of its activity cycle, hence why we see more bright structures. Looking at the structures surrounding the solar disk, which extend to the edge of the field of view, we see the solar atmosphere in profile.

The left panel in the figure above shows an observation made by the LASCO coronagraph on the NASA/ESA SOHO satellite (operating since 1995). Coronagraphs create artificial eclipses by blocking the bright solar disk using an *occulter*, allowing us to see the extended solar atmosphere. Due to complications with the optics and the brightness of the Sun it's very difficult to make observations close to the body of the Sun. Therefore, a gap has to be left between the inner edge of the coronagraph and the observed solar disk.


Height = 1.01 Solar Radii

Height = 1.1 Solar Radii



Image of the Sun made by the PROBA2 SWAP EUV imager. Two circles have been drawn around the Sun at different heights in the solar atmosphere; 1.01 Solar Radii (red) and 1.1 Solar Radii (blue). These circles are straightened out, and successive circles stacked to form the images seen in the bottom two panels. Each of these images are composed of slices taken over three rotations of the Sun

Coronagraph images reveal bright structures known as *Streamers* stretching radially outwards from the lower solar atmosphere. These structures are also formed by the Sun's magnetic field and vary over a solar activity cycle. Sometimes, the magnetic fields near the solar surface can become unstable and erupt as huge magnetic bubbles, known as *Coronal Mass Ejections*, these can be tracked through coronagraph images. These volatile structures form an important aspect of *space weather* that can affect the Earth and other structures in the solar system.

The right panel on the figure above shows the EUV image superimposed on the coronagraph image, adjusted for size, where we see the lower coronal structures extending out from the solar disk, into the outer corona. With closer inspection one can see small inconsistencies between the structures in the EUV image and those in the coronagraph. These are due to the images being created with different filters, showing different wavelengths, hence showing the Sun at different temperatures.

Most EUV observations of the Sun do not extend far above the solar disk, as the drop in emission with distance is extremely high. We had to wait until 2009 for the launch of the SWAP instrument before we could make continuous high cadence observations of this region, which is often referred to as the *Middle Corona*. This region is currently under considerable study as it is relatively unexplored, and only newly created image processing techniques have been able to tease out structures here. The region is of fundamental importance for space weather studies and how the Suns atmosphere can affect the Earth. It is in this region that Coronal Mass Ejections are accelerated and the solar atmosphere transitions from a predominantly magnetically dominated environment into a thermal pressure dominated region.

The PROBA2 team at the Royal Observatory of Belgium have been investigating and developing new techniques to explore the observations of the extended solar atmosphere, processed data is freely available here: <a href="http://proba2.oma.be/swap/data/mpg/movies/carrington\_rotations/">http://proba2.oma.be/swap/data/mpg/movies/carrington\_rotations/</a>

One recently developed method to explore this region is through Synoptic Maps of the Solar Atmosphere. These involve taking a slice at different heights through the atmosphere on successive images, and them stacking the slices up. An example can be seen in the figure above, which shows the changing atmosphere at different heights over a period of three solar rotations (nearly 3 months). It can be seen from these images how different structures vary over time. The PROBA2 team has automated the techniques used to make these images, and the latest synoptic map can be found here: <a href="http://proba2.oma.be/swap/data/SWAPsynopticMap/LatestSWAPsynopticMap.png">http://proba2.oma.be/swap/data/SWAPsynopticMap/LatestSWAPsynopticMap.png</a>

#### **First Detection of Solar Flare Emission in Mid-ultraviolet Balmer Continuum**

Solar flares and associated coronal mass ejections are the most powerful energy release events in the solar system. Surprisingly little is known about the distribution of the flare energy over the full solar spectrum. Routine measurements of the X-ray and extreme ultraviolet (EUV) emissions probe only a small part of the total energy radiated during a flare. Most of the flare radiation is emitted at longer wavelengths, but observations in this spectral range. The parts of the solar spectrum between 1000 and 3000 Å, i.e. far-ultraviolet (FUV), mid-ultraviolet (MUV), and near-ultraviolet (NUV), make a probably important but still poorly known contribution to the total energy emitted during flares.

In September 2017, after several months of relative quiet, a sudden increase of solar activity was observed on the Sun, when an active region started to grow quickly. This active region produced multiple strong flares before disappearing behind the west solar limb on September 10. Among them were the two strongest flares observed during the current solar cycle: the X9.3 flare on September 6 and the limb X8.2 flare on September 10.

LYRA is a radiometer from the Royal Observatory of Belgium, which flies aboard the satellite PROBA2 and observes the Sun in four broadband channels covering the soft X-rays (SXR) to MUV spectral range. At the time of these events, the instrument was performing a special flare observation campaign, involving one of its spare units. So, it delivered clear observations of the X9.3 flare (see the figure below), unaffected by the aging effects that otherwise affect the observations (LYRA was launched in 2009).



Observations of the strongest flare of the solar cycle by the LYRA and GOES instruments. The four channels of LYRA captured a signature of the flare. LYRA channel 3 was cleaned to remove the contribution from unwanted wavelengths and is therefore called "Lyman-alpha residual"

The LYRA data set for the X9.3 flare is rather unique. The two SXR/EUV channels of LYRA (named channels 3 and 4) are specifically used for monitoring solar flares and have captured hundreds of them, but flare observations are relatively rare in the channel 1 (observing the Lyman-alpha range around 1216 Å), and no flare had ever been observed with the channel 2 (which observes the MUV wavelengths around 2000 Å) until then. This time, the instrument observed signatures of the flare in all its channels

The origin of the emission in the channel 2 has been modeled (see the figure below). Comparing the model to the observations, we demonstrated that the emission detected at these wavelengths by

LYRA is consistent with hydrogen emission by a chromospheric slab heated up to 10,000 K. We determined the densities in the slab, and found it to be around 6.7 x  $10^{13}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, which is consistent with previous works.



Model of the flare emission (red line) compared to observations in quiet-Sun conditions (blue line). The two black lines represent the spectral zones in which LYRA channels 1 and 2 are sensitive

Interestingly, the X8.2 flare on September 10, despite being the second strongest flare of the solar cycle, only produced a signature in the usual SXR channels. This may be due to the fact that the flare was located at the limb of the Sun and that at least one of the footpoints was hidden behind the limb.

### Size distributions of solar proton events and their associated soft X-ray flares based on the maximum likelihood estimator

It has been known for some time that the size distributions of solar radio bursts and soft X-ray (SXR) flares have steeper power-law slopes (~1.8) than those of solar energetic proton (SEP) events (~1.2). Some scientists suggested three possibilities for this difference: (1) proton flares are fundamentally different from ordinary flares; (2) proton flares represent the large end of the total energy distribution of ordinary flares; and (3) proton flare characteristics have a threshold behavior. In some sense, each of these conjectures applies, although (1) and (3) are paramount.

In one study (Cliver et al. (2012), ApJ 756, article id. L29), scientists argued that proton flares are fundamentally different from ordinary flares (hypothesis (1)) because they are eruptive. Because of their associated coronal mass ejections (CMEs), proton flares are intrinsically more energetic, satisfying hypothesis (2). Cliver et al. (2012) presented evidence for these points by constructing power-law size distributions for samples of large ("gradual") >10 MeV proton events (58 events), their associated  $\geq$ M1 SXR flares (52 events),  $\geq$ M1 SXR flares associated with fast ( $\geq$ 1000 km s-1) CMEs (59 events), and  $\geq$ M1 soft X-ray flares (540 events). They found that the power-law slopes of distributions of SEP intensity (~1.2) and the peak SXR fluxes of SEP-associated flares (~1.3) were closer to that of the peak SXR fluxes of flares associated with fast CMEs (~1.4) than they were to that of all  $\geq$ M1 SXR flares (~2.1).

In one previous study (D'Huys et al. (2016), Sol. Phys., 291, 1561), we noted that size distribution studies of solar phenomena which use graphical methods (where the power-law exponent is estimated by a linear fit on a log-transformed histogram of the data) – as was the case for Cliver et al. (2012) – require very large data samples (~103 - 104 events) to provide statistically reliable results. In lieu of such methods, we advocated use of the more robust maximum likelihood estimator (MLE). Following our suggestion, we revisited the Cliver et al. analysis using the MLE approach.

#### **Analysis and Results**

The MLE method determines a value for the power-law slope ( $\alpha$ ) of a distribution by maximizing the likelihood of the data, which is the probability that the data were drawn from that model. The results of the MLE application to samples of 136 ~25 MeV SEP events, 113  $\geq$ M1 SEP-associated flares, 159 >1000 km s-1 CMEs, and 716  $\geq$ M1 SXR flares, show that the pattern for  $\alpha$  is similar to that found by Cliver et al. (2012), with the  $\alpha$ -values for the SXR flares associated with SEP events (~1.5) and fast CMEs (~1.6) being closer to that for SEP events (~1.3) than to the  $\alpha$ -value for all  $\geq$ M1 SXR flares (~2.1). As shown by D'Huys et al. (2016), and illustrated in the first figure of this highlight by generating random samples of different size with a given scaling parameter, a sample size of at least ~100 events is required to obtain a reliable result with the MLE method, and this minimum value increases as the slope of the distribution increases.

The second figure of this highlight shows that the large SEP events considered here are associated

with CMEs with speeds  $\gtrsim 400$  km s<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to the nominal Alfvén speed in the low corona. Thus large SEP events are characteristically accompanied by shockwaves manifested by type II radio bursts in the metric and/or decametric-hectometric (nominally 14 – 1 MHz for the Waves experiment on the *Wind* spacecraft) wavelength range.



MLE-scaling parameter estimates as a function of sample size for (a) ~25 MeV SEP events, (b) and (c) SXR flares associated with SEP events and ≥1000 km s-1 CMEs, respectively, and (d) ≥M1 SXR flares

#### Discussion

The figure below shows that the third possible explanation – a threshold effect – for the difference between the  $\alpha$ -values of size distributions of flare electromagnetic emissions and SEP events is also at play. CMEs with speeds > ~400 km s<sup>-1</sup> are required to drive the shocks that accelerate protons in large gradual SEP events. Smaller ("impulsive") SEP events are also commonly associated with CMEs, many with speeds in excess of ~400 km s<sup>-1</sup>, but for such events the ejected mass is moving along field lines in an X-ray jet magnetic topology, whereas movement of magnetoplasma perpendicular to the ambient magnetic field (as in standard loop-like CMEs) is required for shock.



Histogram of speeds of CME associated with large ~25 MeV SEP events

The key inference or application of the power-law size distributions of flare electromagnetic emissions is the avalanche model of Lu and Hamilton (1991, ApJ, 380, L89). In that model, based on the self-organized criticality concept, solar flares are viewed as avalanches of small-scale reconnection events. The smaller value of  $\alpha$  for SEP size distributions argues for a different physical mechanism for acceleration of the protons that escape into space, one based on fast CMEs and coronal/interplanetary shock waves.

#### Next generation of JHelioviewer

Solar observatories are providing the world-wide community with a wealth of data, covering wide time ranges (e.g., Solar and Heliospheric Observatory, SOHO), multiple viewpoints (Solar TErrestrial RElations Observatory, STEREO), and returning large amounts of data (Solar Dynamics Observatory, SDO). In particular, the large volume of SDO data presents challenges. Firstly, the data are available only from a few repositories. Moreover, full-disk, full-cadence data for reasonable durations of scientific interest are difficult to download, due to their size and the download rates available to most users. From a scientist's perspective this poses three challenges: accessing, browsing, and finding interesting data as efficiently as possible.

JHelioviewer is a visualisation software developed to address these challenges using a novel approach: image data are compressed using the JPEG 2000 standard and served on demand in a quality-progressive, region-of-interest-based stream. JHelioviewer is, together with the web application <a href="https://helioviewer.org">https://helioviewer.org</a>, part of the joint ESA/NASA Helioviewer Project. Since the first release of JHelioviewer in 2009, the scientific functionality of the software has been significantly extended. The JHelioviewer software is open source, platform independent, and extendable via a plug-in architecture.

With JHelioviewer, everyone from everywhere can visualize the Sun for any time period between September 1991 and today; they can perform basic image processing in real time, track features on the Sun, and interactively overlay magnetic field extrapolations. The software integrates solar event data and a timeline display. Once an interesting event has been identified, science quality data can be accessed for in-depth analysis. As a first step towards supporting science planning of the upcoming Solar Orbiter mission, JHelioviewer offers a virtual camera model that enables users to set the vantage point to the location of a spacecraft or celestial body at any given time.



Screenshot of the JHelioviewer application. The left part of the application window hosts expandable sections to manage and display time-dependent image layers, timelines, and event data. The main panel displays image data in a 3D scene that the user can interact with. The timeline panel in the bottom right displays 1D and 2D plots of time series, e.g., disk-integrated X-ray fluxes. Markers for solar events can be overlayed on both panels In light of its popularity in the solar physics community and beyond, our team at Royal Observatory of Belgium in joint effort with colleagues from the FHNW institute from Switserland has significantly enhanced JHelioviewer in this project. We highlight the following new features:

- Displaying multi-viewpoint data in a single 3D scene, e.g., from the twin Solar TErrestrial RElations Observatory (STEREO) spacecraft;
- Real-time generation and display of difference movies;
- PFSS magnetic field extrapolation models using synoptic magnetograms from the Global Oscillation Network Group (GONG);
- > Timelines of 1D and 2D data, e.g., disk-integrated X-ray fluxes and radio spectrograms;
- integrating solar event data from the Heliophysics Event Knowledgebase (HEK) and curating it into a Space Weather Event Knowledgebase (SWEK);
- Various 2D projections (orthographic, latitudinal, polar, log-polar);
- A split-screen view to display multiple images side by side;
- Save and restore scenes
- > Interaction with other programs via the SAMP protocol
- A virtual camera model that enables the user to set the vantage point to the location of a spacecraft or celestial body at a given time, using an ephemeris server.

The last feature is a first step towards supporting the science planning process for the future Solar Orbiter mission, which is a key objective for the future development of JHelioviewer. In parallel, a large number of additional data sets have been added. These include data from the Hinode (XRT), PROBA-2 (SWAP and LYRA), Yohkoh (SXT), and TRACE space missions, as well as data from the ground-based facilities NSO/SOLIS, NSO/GONG, Kanzelhöhe Solar Observatory, USET telescope of the Royal Observatory of Belgium, the Nançay Radioheliograph, and the e-CALLISTO network.

#### DigiSun: a tool to extract scientific data from sunspot drawings

Sunspot drawings are the base material available for deriving detailed information about the longterm evolution of the solar cycle. In this context, it is important to have the appropriate tools to convert drawings into exploitable scientific data and to extract as much information as possible from these drawings. While such a tool is obviously important for every observatory with historical sunspot drawings and/or still does daily drawing, there was no generic tool available in the solar physics community. As a side effect, there is a lack of homogeneity among the data and some sunspot drawings collections stay buried in archives due to a lack of manpower to write the appropriate software.

At the Royal Observatory of Belgium, there is a collection of 70 years of sunspot drawings that is still growing with the addition of daily input. The scanning and the first analysis of sunspot drawings are done with an in-house software called DigiSun. In 2018, a new version was designed and the code was rewritten on the basis of a first version which showed its limitation due to its lack of modularity and flexibility. DigiSun is a graphical user interface (GUI) with the following functionalities:

- > Sunspot drawings display, variable image scale and image overlay (large grid on the figure below)
- > Calculation of the solar axis angles (P, B, L) via an in-house ephemeris module
- Correspondence between pixels position and heliographic coordinates on the solar disk
- Recording of sunspot group parameters (number of spots, splitting, Zurich and McIntosh morphological classification).
- > Measurement of the dipole positions and recording of the asymmetry leading/trailing
- Total area sunspot group measurement

All the parameters of the groups are then saved in an external database for relevant scientific analysis. In addition, it contains a functionality to perform the scanning of drawings making it a unique end-toend tool to transform drawings into scientific data.



#### Global view of DigiSun and some of its functionalities

The latest module, added in the context of the VAL-U-SUN project, is the sunspot group total area measurement. The total area consists of the umbra and the penumbra area of the sunspot groups. It is an important measure because of its strong correlation with the magnetic field associated to the sunspot. To measure the area, a reduced frame around each sunspot group is considered (see the

figure below). A selection and paint toolbox allows a fine-grained selection of the group under consideration. The bottom part of the module (see the figure below) indicates the projected and the deprojected areas, the latter taking into account the foreshortening of the group based the correspondence between pixel positions and heliographic coordinates.



Sunspot area measurement module in DigiSun

Another important feature of the new version of DigiSun is its adaptability to different drawing formats. This allows the analysis of collections from different observatories. Moreover it was written in a multi-platform programming language making it portable to any computer. A first international collaboration with the Specola Observatory in Locarno was initiated. After a few days of installation and training, the software was perfectly working on-site and is now used for the daily analysis of their sunspot drawings.

We have developed a robust and flexible tool at the Royal Observatory of Belgium for the analysis of sunspot drawings. It is now used for our daily drawings. Moreover it is used to analyze older drawings from our collection in the context of the VAL-U-SUN project, sunspot area measurements being now fast and intuitive. Another achievement is the portability of the software and the fact that it was distributed successfully to another observatory. Hence a software developed for our own needs proved to be useful to the wider, international community. As other institutes already mentioned their interest, we plan to distribute DigiSun further in the near future. This will allow access to new long-term solar data with a much better homogenization.

# Communication and Information

The Communication and Information Service aims to communicate and promote the Observatory's research activities and heritage, and also to provide and relay scientific information to the public and the personal. The activities of the service consist of several tasks: answering questions and inquiries from public, administrations, authorities and press, assisting in all kind of outreach activities such as the Open Doors, exhibition and other events, collaborating with the Planetarium, publishing the Yearbook and the annual report, managing the archives and museum and sending press releases and preparing of texts for printing or for the web site (http://www.astro.oma.be/en/news/).

### The Open Doors Days 2018

During the weekend of September 29-30, the three institutes in Uccle (the Royal Observatory of Belgium, the Royal Meteorological Institute, and the Royal Belgian Institute of Space Aeronomy) welcomed about 9000 visitors for their Open Doors Days. For the first time, the three institutes and the Planetarium, organized a social media campaign for this event.

The program is similar to the last Open Door Days of 2014 with new events and activities implemented:

- An Open Door Day for school classes on Friday September 28 afternoon (co-organized with the Royal Belgian Institute of Space Aeronomy and the Planetarium). Five primary school classes and two secondary school classes participated to the event.
- A VIP event on Saturday September 29 in the morning. A special tour of the Space Pole was given to the invitees.
- An experiment tent, in which experiments from the three institutes were gathered. From the Public Observatory enquete, this activity is among the most popular ones of this event.



As usual, this event got a high success. The services of the Observatory also took this opportunity to update or create their outreach material. Some new outreach item were the maquette of the instrument LaRa and the planetary sphere of the planetary scientists of the Observatory, made with the help of the technical service.

#### Information to the public and authorities

In 2018, the service replied to 1195 questions from authorities, public and media sent by email (714), telephone (443), letter or fax (24), and via the social networks (Facebook and Twitter, 14). The authorities are notably courts, police, army, Belgocontrol and the Royal Meteorological Institute. As usual, most questions were about sunset and sunrise, astronomical phenomena, calendar and time, the history of the Observatory and the Open Doors.

The service was regularly in contact with the media (TV, radio, written press, and agencie). The service gave information to them on numerous occasions. Other members of the ROB appeared in news items on other topics (Gaia Second Data Release, InSight, daylight saving time, BepiColombo, water on Mars, earthquake in Indonesia...).



Tours of the Observatory are no more organized for the general public. Group visits are still organised on special occasions. The individual visitors were mainly journalists, other media related persons, amateur astronomers and/or students. The service updated and presented the 'History and activities of the Observatory' as an introductory talk to some of the visiting groups and guided them in the institute.

#### Website, news, press releases and social media

In 2018, the main website of the Observatory (<u>https://www.astro.oma.be</u>) got 292,143 visits. Peaks of visits appear at some periods, noticeable near the dates of the winter solstice and the dates of the daylight saving time, during the Open Door Days (between 29 September and 1 October 2018) and on 17-18 October 2018, just after de publication of the news article "Summer time or winter time? The Royal Observatory of Belgium informs". The content of the information web pages and the pages on the celestial phenomena of the month was regularly updated. In 2018, 14 topics were published in the "News" section of the ROB website (always in 3 languages: NL/FR/EN), including 5 press releases.

On 31 December 2018, the Facebook page of the Observatory had 586 likes (with 316 new likes since end 2017), and its Twitter account 441 followers (224 new followers). Since end 2017, the Observatory also has a YouTube channel, which hosts on 31 December 2018 20 videos. One of these is a promotional video for the instrument LaRa made by job students. The most successful Facebook post of this year is the one sharing the news article "Summer time or winter time? The Royal Observatory of Belgium informs".

### The Heritage Days at the Ancient Observatory and other exhibitions

For the first time, the Ancient Observatory, located at the municipality of Saint-Josse, opened its doors during the Heritage Days 2018 in the Brussels Capital Region, on 15 and 16 September. About 1700 visitors came during the weekend. The Ancient Observatory, named at this epoch "(Royal) Observatory of Brussels", was the ancient site of the Royal Observatory of Belgium (and of the Royal Meteorological Institute) before it moved to Uccle in 1890. The Observatory, the institute Homegrade and the Académie intercommunale de Saint-Josse-ten-Noode/Schaerbeek organised this event.



The Observatory also participates to the annual summer exhibition of the Royal Palace. For the exhibition of this year, with the theme "Wonder", it provides two objects: the Houzeau's heliometer and a video of the Sun filmed by the camera SWAP onboard the ESA satellite PROBA2. It contributes

also to the exhibition "Now is light" which took place in Lisbon, Portugal from January 26 to March 10, 2018 by lending Houzeau's books about "uranometry" and an astronomical map.



Houzeau's heliometer at the Royal Palace of Brussels

#### Archives and museum

In 2018, about 50 requests from individual visitors were related to the archives. Four requests concerned historical artifacts for scientific research purpose, seven requests concerned photographies and copyright inquiries for book publication.

The project about the transcription of Quetelet's letters, which started in February 2017, is still ongoing. In January 2018, an article about this project have been published in Science Connection. On December 31, 2018, the volunteers transcribed 1051 letters, which brings the total number of letters to 1621. The transcribed letters are published on the website <a href="http://quetelet.oma.be/">http://quetelet.oma.be/</a>.

## **The Planetarium**



#### **Daily activities**

In 2018, the Planetarium welcomed **41,138 visitors**. This number is composed of school groups (kindergarten, primary schools, secondary schools, graduate school and universities) who come to attend a course given by one of our animators, as well as individuals (families, tourists) interested in one of the films proposed for the programme. The Planetarium is open every day of the year, including weekends and public holidays (except Christmas and New Year).

#### **Special activities**

In addition to its daily activities, the Planetarium fully participates in its role as an educational, cultural and science valorisation actor, by organizing or promoting a whole series of special activities.

The special activities of 2018 are:

- > Acoustic music concert on February 2 and December 2 (partnership with Indies Keeping Secret);
- Hosting of the beSpace networking event on March 9;
- Selection of the winners of the CANSat competition (creation by secondary school students of a scientific experiment to be launched by rocket) in partnership with the Brussels Region on March 21;
- Electronic music concerts on April 21 and May 19;
- Hosting of the groups participating in the ASGARD project on April 26;
- Hosting the proclamation of the results of the Astronomy Olympiads on May 5 (VVS);
- > FNRS / ROB Astronomy Day Contact Group Day on June 4;
- Launch of the new full-dome film Ghost of the Universe on June 20;
- Indian music concert on August 25 (partnership with Hide & Seek);
- Poetry under the Stars on September 7;
- Performance by Het Puntje van de tong on September 11, October 11 and December 11;
- Launch of a commemorative coin (space satellite) on September 20 (With the Hôtel des Monnaies);
- Submission of a 3D model of the ISS station made by Brussels schools to the Secretary of State for Scientific Research of the Brussels-Capital Region on October 10 (Alsvin project);
- > Participation in the Noctunes des Musées bruxellois on October 18;
- Night of Darkness on October 20 organized at Rouge-Cloître;
- Announcement of the Big Bang Spacetube festival awards on November 4;
- Jean-Pascal Van Ypersele's conference on November 6;
- > Participation in the Dag van de Wetenschap on November 25;
- Launch of IAU100 (celebration of the 100th anniversary of the International Astronomical Union) in Belgium on December 20.



# **Annex 1: Publications**

#### **Refereed publications**

- [1] Aboudan, A.; Colombatti, G.; Bettanini, C.; Ferri, F.; Lewis, S.R.; Van Hove, B.; Karatekin, O.; Debei, S.
   *ExoMars 2016 Schiaparelli Module Trajectory and Atmospheric Profiles Reconstruction. Analysis of the On-board Inertial and Radar Measurements* Space Science Review, 214 issue 5, pp. Id. 97, 31 pages (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11214-018-0532-3
- [2] Aerts, C. ; Bowman, D. M. ; Símon-Díaz, S. ; Buysschaert, B. ; Johnston, C. ; Moravveji, E. ; Beck, P. G. ; De Cat, P. ; Triana, S. ; Aigrain, S. ; Castro, N. ; Huber, D. ; White, T. *K2 photometry and HERMES spectroscopy of the blue supergiant ρ Leo: rotational wind modulation and low-frequency waves* Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 476 issue 1, pp. 1234-1241 (2018). DOI: 10.1093/mnras/sty308 <u>https://academic.oup.com/mnras/article/476/1/1234/4848277</u>
- [3] Afanasyev, A. N.; Zhukov, A. N.
   *Propagation of a global coronal wave and its interaction with large-scale coronal magnetic structures* Astronomy and Astrophysics, 614, pp. A139 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201731908
- [4] Aleman, Isabel ; Exter, Katrina ; Ueta, Toshiya ; Walton, Samuel ; Tielens, A. G. G. M. ;
  Zijlstra, Albert ; Montez, Rodolfo ; Abraham, Zulema ; Otsuka, Masaaki ; Beaklini, Pedro P. B. ; van Hoof, Peter A. M. ; Villaver, Eva ; Leal-Ferreira, Marcelo L. ; Mendoza, Edgar ; Lépine, Jacques D. R.
  Herschel Planetary Nebula Survey (HerPlaNS). hydrogen recombination laser lines in Mz 3 Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 477 issue 4, pp. 4499-4510 (2018). DOI:
- 10.1093/mnras/sty966
  [5] Aparicio, A.J.P.; Lefèvre, L.; Gallego, M.C.; Vaquero, J.M.; Clette, F.; Bravo-Paredes, N.; Galaviz, P.; Bautista, L. A Sunspot Catalog for the Period 1952-1986 from Observations made at the Madrid Astronomical Observatory

Solar Physics, 293 issue 12, pp. 164 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11207-018-1387-1 https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11207-018-1387-1

- [6] Berckmans, Julie ; Van Malderen, Roeland ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Pacione, Rosa ; Hamdi, Rafiq Validating the water vapour content from a reanalysis product and a regional climate model over Europe based on GNSS observations Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics (ACP) (2018). DOI: 10.5194/acp-2018-1097 <u>https://www.atmos-chem-phys-discuss.net/acp-2018-1097/</u>
- Bertone, S. ; Le Poncin-Lafitte, C. ; Rosenblatt, P. ; Lainey, V. ; Marty, J.-C. ; Angonin, M.-C. *Impact analysis of the transponder time delay on radio-tracking observables* Adv. Space Res., 61 issue 1, pp. 89-96 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.asr.2017.09.003
- [8] Bertrand, Bruno ; Defraigne, Pascale
   A Model of Massive Electromagnetism for the Detection of Topological Dark Matter Through GNSS Networks
   Conference on Precision Electromagnetic Measurements (CPEM 2018) (2018). DOI: 10.1109/CPEM.2018.8500921 <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8500921</u>
- [9] Beuthe, Mikael *Enceladus's crust as a non-uniform thin shell: I tidal deformations* Icarus, 302, pp. 145-174 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.icarus.2017.11.009
- Blommaert, J.A.D.L.; Groenewegen, M.A.T.; Justtanont, K.; Decin, L. On the detection of CO and mass-loss of bulge OH/IR stars Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 479, pp. 3545 (2018).

- Bocanegra-Bahamón, T.M.; Molera Calvés, G.; Gurvits, L.I.; Duev, D.A.; Pogrebenko, S.V.; Cimò, G.; Dirkx, D.; Rosenblatt, P.
  Frequency and mode identification of γ Doradus from photometric and spectroscopic observations
  Astronomy & Astrophysicis, 609, pp. Id. A59, 11 pages (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201731524
- Brunsden, E.; Pollard, K. R.; Wright, D. J.; De Cat, P.; Cottrell, P. L. Enceladus's internal ocean and ice shell constrained from Cassini gravity, shape, and libration data.
  Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 475 issue 3, pp. 3813-3822 (2018). DOI: 10.1093/mnras/sty034 https://academic.oup.com/mnras/article/475/3/3813/4795324
- [13] Camelbeeck, Thierry ; Quinif, Yves ; Verheyden, Sophie ; Vanneste, Kris ; Knuts, Elisabeth. Earthquakes as collapse precursors at the Han-sur-Lesse cave in the Belgian Ardennes Geomorphology, 308, pp. 13-24 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.geomorph.2018.01.030
- [14] Campion, R.; Delgado-Granados, H.; Legrand, D.; Taquet, N.; Boulesteix, T.; Pedraza-Espitia, S.; Lecocq, T.
   Breathing and Coughing: The extraordinarily high degassing of Popocatepetl volcano investigated with an SO2 camera
   Frontiers in Earth Science (2018). DOI: 10.3389/feart.2018.00163
- [15] Carrasco, V.M.S.; García-Romero, J.M.; Vaquero, J.M.; Rodríguez, P. G.; Foukal, P.; Gallego, M.C.; Lefevre, L. *The umbra-penumbra area ratio of sunspots during the Maunder Minimum* The Astrophysical Journal, Volume 865:88, Number 2 (9 pp) (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4357/aad9f6 <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.3847/1538-4357/aad9f6</u>
- [16] Caudron, C.; Taisne, B.; Neuberg, J.; Jolly, A. D.; Christenson, B.; Lecocq, T.; Suparjan, S.; Syahbana, D.; Suantika, Gede. *Anatomy of phreatic eruptions*Earth, Planets and Space, 70 issue 1, pp. 168 (2018). DOI: 10.1186/s40623-018-0938-x
- [17] Chehlaeh, N. ; Mkrtichian, D. ; Lampens, P. ; Komonjinda, S. ; Kim, S.-L. ; Van Cauteren, P. ; Kusakin, A. V. ; Glazunova, L. *Photometric study and search for variable stars in the intermediate-age open cluster NGC* 2126 Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 480 issue 2, pp. 1850-1863 (2018). DOI: 10.1093/mnras/sty1906
- [18] Chehlaeh, Nareemas ; Mkrtichian, David ; Kim, Seung-Lee ; Lampens, Patricia ; Komonjinda, Siramas ; Kusakin, Anatoly ; Glazunova, Ljudmila Binarity and Variable Stars in the Open Cluster NGC 2126 Bulletin de la Société Royale des Sciences de Liège, 87, pp. 216-223 (2018). DOI: 10.25518/0037-9565.7656 https://popups.uliege.be/0037-9565/index.php?id=7656
- [19] Chowdhury, S.; Joshi, S.; Engelbrecht, C. A.; De Cat, P.; Joshi, Y. C.; Paul, K. T. A study of pulsation & rotation in a sample of A-K type stars in the Kepler field Astrophysics and Space Science, 363 issue 12, pp. 260 (1-18) (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s10509-018-3480-1 <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10509-018-3480-1</u>
- [20] Cliver, Edward W.; D'Huys, Elke Size Distributions of Solar Proton Events and Their Associated Soft X-Ray Flares: Application of the Maximum Likelihood Estimator The Astrophysical Journal, 864 issue 1 (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4357/aad043

- [21] Coyette, A.; Baland, R.-M.; Van Hoolst, T. Variations in rotation rate and polar motion of a non-hydrostatic Titan Icarus, 307, pp. 83 - 105 (2018).
- [22] Cropper, M. ; Katz, D. ; Sartoretti, P. ; Prusti, T. ; de Bruijne, J. H. J. ; Chassat, F. ; Charvet, P. ; Boyadjian, J. ; Perryman, M. ; Sarri, G. ; Gare, P. ; Erdmann, M. ; Munari, U. ; Zwitter, T. ; Wilkinson, M. ; Arenou, F. ; Vallenari, A. ; Gómez, A. ; Panuzzo, P. ; Seabroke, G. ; Allende Prieto, C. ; Benson, K. ; Marchal, O. ; Huckle, H. ; Smith, M. ; Dolding, C. ; Janßen, K. ; Viala, Y. ; Blomme, R. ; Baker, S. ; Boudreault, S. ; Crifo, F. ; Soubiran, C. ; Frémat, Y. ; Jasniewicz, G. ; Guerrier, A. ; Guy, L. P. ; Turon, C. ; Jean-Antoine-Piccolo, A. ; Thévenin, F. ; David, M. ; Gosset, E. ; Damerdji, Y. *Gaia Data Release 2. Gaia Radial Velocity Spectrometer* Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A5, 19 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832763
- [23] Dąbrowski, B. P.; Morosan, D. E.; Fallows, R. A.; Blaszkiewicz, L.; Krankowski, A.; Magdalenic, J.; Vocks, C.; Mann, G.; Zucca, P.; Sidorowicz, T.; Hajduk, M.; Kotulak, K.; Fron, A.; Sniadkowska, K. Observations of the Sun using LOFAR Baldy station Advances in Space Research, 62 issue 7, pp. 1895-1903 (2018).
- [24] Deckers, Jef; Van Noten, Koen; Schiltz, Marco; Lecocq, Thomas; Vanneste, Kris Integrated study on the topographic and shallow subsurface expression of the Grote Brogel Fault at the boundary of the Roer Valley Graben, Belgium Tectonophysics, 722, pp. 486-509 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.tecto.2017.11.019 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S004019511730481X
- [25] Dehant, V.; Gurvits, L; Kramer, M.; Park, R.; Wolf, P.; Zarnecki, John; Rodrigo, R. Editorial to the Topical Collection on High Performance Clocks with Special Emphasis on Geodesy and Geophysics and Applications to Other Bodies of the Solar System Space Science Reviews, 214, pp. 1-5 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11214-017-0451-8
- [26] De Plaen, Raphael ; Cannata, Andrea ; Cannavo, Flavio ; Caudron, Corentin ; Lecocq, Thomas ; Francis, Olivier
   *Temporal changes of seismic velocity caused by volcanic activity at Mt. Etna revealed by the autocorrelation of ambient seismic noise* Frontiers in Earth Sciences, 6, pp. 251 (2018). DOI: 10.3389/feart.2018.00251
   <a href="https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/feart.2018.00251/full">https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/feart.2018.00251/full</a>
- [27] Dominique, Marie ; Zhukov, Andrei N. ; Heinzel, Petr ; Dammasch, Ingolf E. ; Wauters, Laurence ; Dolla, Laurent ; Shestov, Sergei ; Kretzschmar, Matthieu ; Machol, Janet ; Lapenta, Giovanni ; Schmutz, Werner
   *First Detection of Solar Flare Emission in Middle-Ultraviolet Balmer Continuum* The Astrophysical Journal Letters, Vol 867, Iss 2, article id. L24 (2018). DOI: 10.3847/2041-8213/aaeace <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.3847/2041-8213/aaeace/meta</u>
- [28] Dominique, Marie ; Zhukov, Andrei ; Dolla, Laurent ; Inglis, Andrew ; Lapenta, Giovanni Detection of Quasi-Periodic Pulsations in Solar EUV Timeseries Solar Physics, 293:61 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11207-018-1281-x https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11207-018-1281-x
- [29] Elik, O.; Sanchez, J.P.; Karatekin, O.; Ritter, B.
   A comparative reliability analysis of ballistic deployments on binary asteroids Acta Astronautica, 156, pp. 308-316 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.actaastro.2018.03.020
- [30] Esposito, F. ; Debei, S. ; Bettanini, C. ; Molfese, C. ; Arruego Rodríguez, I. ; Colombatti, G. ; Harri, A-M. ; Montmessin, F. ; Wilson, C. ; Aboudan, A. ; Schipani, P. ; Marty, L. ; Álvarez, F.J. ; Apestigue, V. ; Bellucci, G. ; Berthelier, J-J ; Brucato, J.R. ; Calcutt, S.B. ; Chiodini, S. ; Cortecchia, F. ; Cozzolino, F. ; Cucciarrè, F. ; Deniskina, N. ; Déprez, G. ; Di Achille, G. ; Ferri, F. ; Forget, F. ; Franzese, G. ; Friso, E. ; Genzer, M. ; Hassen-Kodja, R. ; Haukka, H. ;

Hieta, M.; Jiménez, J.J.; Josset, J-L.; Kahanpaa, H.; Karatekin, O.; Landis, G.; Lapauw, L.;
Lorenz, R.; Martinez-Oter, J.; Mennella, V.; Mohlmann, D.; Moirin, D.; Molinaro, R.;
Nikkanen, T.; Palomba, E.; Patel, M.R.; Pommereau, J-P.; Popa, C.I.; Rafkin, S.; Rannou,
P.; Renno, N.O.; Rivas, J.; Schmidt, W.; Segato, E.; Silvestro, S.; Spiga, A.; Toledo, D.;
Trautner, R.; Valero, R.; Vazquez, L.F.; Vivat, F.; Witasse, O.; Yela, W.; Mugnuolo, M.;
Marchetti, E.R.; Pirrotta, S. *The DREAMS experiment onboard the Schiaparelli Module of the ExoMars 2016 mission: design, performances and expected result*Space Science Reviews, 214 issue 6, pp. Id. 103, 38 pages (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11214-018-0535-0

- [31] Fedorets, Grigori ; Muinonen, Karri ; Pauwels, Thierry ; Granvik, Mikael ; Tanga, Paolo ;
   Virtanen, Jenni ; Berthier, Jérôme ; Carry, Benoit ; David, Pedro ; Dell'Oro, Aldo ; Mignard, François ; Petit, Jean-Marc ; Spoto, Federica ; Thuillot, William
   Optimizing asteroid orbit computation for Gaia with normal points
   Astronomy & Astrophysics, 620, pp. A101-A115 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201833197
- [32] Folkner, William M.; Dehant, Véronique; Le Maistre, Sébastien; Yseboodt, Marie; Rivoldini, Attilio; Van Hoolst, Tim; Asmar, Sami W.; Golombek, Matthew P. *The Rotation and Interior Structure Experiment on the InSight Mission to Mars.* Space Science Reviews, 214 issue 5 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11214-018-0530-5
- [33] Forbes, T G ; Seaton, D B ; Reeves, K K
   *Reconnection in the Post-Impulsive Phase of Solar Flares* The Astrophysical Journal,858:70 (16pp) (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4357/aabad4
- [34] Gaia Collaboration ; Babusiaux, C. et al. (comprising Blomme, R., Frémat, Y., Pauwels, T., Cuypers, J. and Lobel, A.)
   *Gaia Data Release 2. Observational Hertzsprung-Russell diagrams* Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A10, 29 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832843
- [35] Gaia Collaboration ; Brown, A. G. A. et al. (comprising Blomme, R., Frémat, Y., Pauwels, T., Cuypers, J. and Lobel, A.)
   *Gaia Data Release 2. Summary of the contents and survey properties* Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A1, 22 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201833051
- [36] Gaia Collaboration ; Helmi, A. et al. (comprising Blomme, R., Frémat, Y., Pauwels, T., Cuypers, J. and Lobel, A.) *Gaia Data Release 2. Kinematics of globular clusters and dwarf galaxies around the Milky Way*Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A12, 47 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832698.
- [37] Gaia Collaboration ; Katz, D. et al. (comprising Blomme, R., Frémat, Y., Pauwels, T., Cuypers, J. and Lobel, A.)
   *Gaia Data Release 2. Mapping the Milky Way disc kinematics* Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A11, 40 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832865
- [38] Gaia Collaboration ; Mignard, F. et al. (comprising Blomme, R., Frémat, Y., Pauwels, T., Cuypers, J. and Lobel, A.) *Gaia Data Release 2. The celestial reference frame (Gaia-CRF2)*Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A14, 15 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832916
- [39] Gaia Collaboration ; Spoto, F. et al. (comprising Blomme, R., Frémat, Y., Pauwels, T., Cuypers, J. and Lobel, A.)
   Gaia Data Release 2. Observations of solar system objects
   Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A13, 24 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832900

- [40] Galano, D.; Bemporad, A.; Buckley, S.; Cernica, I.; Dániel, V.; Denis, F.; de Vos, L.; Fineschi, S.; Galy, C.; Graczyk, R.; Horodyska, P.; Jacob, J.; Jansen, R.; Kranitis, N.; Kurowski, M.; Ladno, M.; Ledent, P.; Loreggia, D.; Melich, R.; Mollet, D.; Mosdorf, M.; Paschalis, A.; Peresty, R.; Purica, M.; Radzik, B.; Rataj, M.; Rougeot, R.; Salvador, L.; Thizy, C.; Versluys, J.; Walczak, T.; Zarzycka, A.; Zender, J.; Zhukov, A. *Development of ASPIICS: a coronagraph based on Proba-3 formation flying mission* Proceedings of SPIE, 10698, pp. 106982Y (2018). DOI: 10.1117/12.2312493
- [41] Garbin, Esteban ; Krystek, Piotr ; Piriz, Ricardo ; Waller, Pierre ; Defraigne, Pascale ; Bertrand, Bruno
   *Validation of GNSS Receiver Chain Absolute Calibration* Proceedings of the 31st International Technical Meeting of the Satellite Division of the Institute of Navigation (ION GNSS+ 2018), pp. 2796 2803 (2018). DOI: 10.33012/2018.16108
- [42] Goldman, S.R.; van Loon, J.Th.; Gómez, J.F.; Green, J.A.; Zijlstra, A.A.; Nanni, A.; Imai, H.; Whitelock, P.A.; Groenewegen, M.A.T.; Oliveira, J.M. *A dearth of OH/IR stars in the Small Magellanic Cloud* Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 473, pp. 3835 (2018).
- [43] Goryaev, Farid F.; Slemzin, Vladimir A.; Rodkin, Denis G.; D'Huys, Elke; Podladchikova, O.; West, Matthew J.
   Brightening and Darkening of the Extended Solar Corona during the Superflares of September 2017
   The Astrophysical Journal Letters, 856 issue 2 (2018).
- [44] Groenewegen, M.A.T.
   The Cepheid period-luminosity-metallicity relation based on Gaia DR2 data Astronomy & Astrophysics, 619, pp. A8 (2018).
- [45] Groenewegen, M.A.T.; Sloan, G.C. Luminosities and mass-loss rates of Local Group AGB stars and Red Supergiants Astronomy & Astrophysics, 609, pp. A114 (2018).
- [46] Hahn, Michael ; D'Huys, Elke ; Savin, Daniel Wolf *Density Fluctuations in a Polar Coronal Hole* The Astrophysical Journal, 860 issue 1 (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4357/aac0f3
- [47] Hajduk, M.; van Hoof, P. A. M.; Śniadkowska, K.; Krankowski, A.; Błaszkiewicz, L.;
  Dąbrowski, B.; Zijlstra, A. A. *Radio observations of planetary nebulae: no evidence for strong radial density gradients*Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 479 issue 4, pp. 5657-5677 (2018). DOI: 10.1093/mnras/sty1673
- [48] Hajduk, Marcin ; van Hoof, Peter ; Sniadkowska, Karolina ; Krankowski, Andrzej ;
   Błaszkiewicz, Leszek ; Dabrowski, Bartosz ; Zijlstra, Albert
   *Radio Continuum Spectra of Planetary Nebulae* S Galaxies, 7 issue 1, pp. 6 (2018). DOI: 10.3390/galaxies7010006
- [49] Hakim, Kaustubh ; Rivoldini, Attilio ; Van Hoolst, Tim ; Cottenier, Stefaan ; Jaeken, Jan ; Chust, Thomas ; Steinle-Neumann, Gerd A new ab initio equation of state of hcp-Fe and its implication on the interior structure and mass-radius relations of rocky super-Earths Icarus, 313 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.icarus.2018.05.005
- [50] Harrison, R. A.; Davies, J.; Barnes, D.; Byrne, J.; Perry, C.; Bothmer, V.; Eastwood, J.; Gallagher, P.; Kilpua, E.; Moestl, C.; Rodriguez, L.; Rouillard, A.; Odstrcil, D. Coronal mass ejections in the heliosphere: I. Statistical analysis of the observational properties of coronal mass ejections detected in the heliosphere between 2007 and 2017 by STEREO/HI Solar Physics, 293 issue 5 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11207-018-1297-2

- [51] Herique, A. ; Agnus, B. ; Asphaug, E. ; Barucci, A. ; Beck, P. ; Bellerose, J. ; Biele, J. ; Bonal, L. ; Bousquet, P. ; Bruzzone, L. ; Buck, C. ; Carnelli, I. ; Cheng, A. ; Ciarletti, V. ; Delbo, M. ; Du, J. ; Du, X. ; Eyraud, C. ; Fa, W. ; Gil Fernandez, J. ; Gassot, O. ; Granados-Alfaro, R. ; Green, S.F. ; Grieger, B. ; Grundmann, J.T. ; Grygorczuk, J. ; Hahnel, R. ; Heggy, E. ; Ho, T-M. ; Karatekin, O. ; Kasaba, Y. ; Kobayashi, T. ; Kofman, W. ; Krause, C. ; Kumamoto, A. ; Küppers, M. ; Laabs, M. ; Lange, C. ; Lasue, J. ; Levasseur-Regourd, A.C. ; Mallet, A. ; Michel, P. ; Mottola, S. ; Murdoch, N. ; Mütze, M. ; Oberst, J. ; Orosei, R. ; Plettemeier, D. ; Rochat, S. ; RodriguezSuquet, R. ; Rogez, Y. ; Schaffer, P. ; Snodgrass, C. ; Souyris, J-C. ; Tokarz, M. ; Ulamec, S. ; Wahlund, J-E. ; Zine, S. *Direct Observations of Asteroid Interior and Regolith Structure: Science Measurement Requirements* Adv. Space Res., 62, pp. 2141-2162 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.asr.2017.10.020
- [52] Hosteaux, Skralan; Chané, Emmanuel; Decraemer, Bieke; Talpeanu, Dana-Camelia; Poedts, Stefaan Ultrahigh-resolution model of a breakout CME embedded in the solar wind Astronomy & Astrophysics, 620, pp. A57 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832976 https://www.aanda.org/articles/aa/abs/2018/12/aa32976-18/aa32976-18.html
- [53] Hrivnak, B. J.; Van de Steene, G.C.; Van Winckel, H.; Lu, W.; Sperauskas, J. Variability in Proto-planetary Nebulae. V. Velocity and Light Curve Analysis of IRAS 17436+5003, 18095+2704, and 19475+3119 Astronomical Journal, 156 issue 6, pp. 300-320 (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-3881/aaee69 https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.3847/1538-3881/aaee69/meta
- [54] Hyodo, R.; Genda, H.; Charnoz, S.; Pignatale, F.C.F.; Rosenblatt, P. On the impact origin of Phobos and Deimos IV. Volatile Depletion Astrophysical Journal, 860 issue 2, pp. Id. 150, 10 pages (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4357/aac024
- [55] Jejčič, S.; Heinzel, P.; Labrosse, N.; Zhukov, A. N.; Bemporad, A.; Fineschi, S.; Gunár, S. Visibility of Prominences Using the He I D3 Line Filter on the PROBA-3/ASPIICS Coronagraph
   Solar Physics, 293, pp. 33 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11207-018-1251-3
- [56] Katsiyannis, Athanassios ; Dominique, Marie ; Pierrard, Viviane ; Lopez Rosson, Graciela ; De Keyser, Johan ; Berghmans, David ; Kruglanski, Michel ; Dammasch, Ingolf ; De Donder, Erwin
   The detection of ultra-relativistic electrons in low Earth orbit
   Journal of Space Weather and Space Climate, 8 issue A01 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/swsc/2017041
- [57] Khan, A.; Liebske, C.; Rozel, A.; Rivoldini, A.; Nimmo, F; Connolly, J. A. D.; Plesa, A. -C.; Giardini, D. *A Geophysical Perspective on the Bulk Composition of Mars* Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets, 123 (2018). DOI: 10.1002/2017JE005371
- [58] Lampens, P. ; Frémat, Y. ; Vermeylen, L. ; De Cat, P. ; Dumortier, L. ; Sódor, Á. ; Sharka, M. ; Bognár, Zs.
  Spectroscopic monitoring of bright A-F type candidate hybrid stars discovered by the Kepler mission
  Bulletin de la Société Royale des Sciences de Liège, 87, pp. 137-144 (2018). DOI: 10.25518/0037-9565.7587 <u>https://popups.uliege.be/0037-9565/index.php?id=7587</u>
- [59] Lampens, P.; Frémat, Y.; Vermeylen, L.; Sòdor, À.; Skarka, M.; De Cat, P.; Bognàr, Zs.; De Nutte, R.; Dumortier, L.; Escorza, A.; Oomen, G. M.; Van de Steene, G.; Kamath, D.; Laverick, M.; Samadi, A.; Triana, S.; Lehmann, H. Multi-technique investigation of the binary fraction among A-F type candidate hybrid variable stars discovered by Kepler

Astronomy & Astrophysics, 610 issue A17, pp. 1-33 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201730694 <u>https://www.aanda.org/articles/aa/abs/2018/02/aa30694-17/aa30694-17.html</u>

- [60] Lampens, P. ; Van Cauteren, P. ; Ayiomamitis, A. ; Kleidis, S. ; Panagiatopoulos, K. ;
   Vanleenhove, M. ; Hambsch, J. ; Hautecler, H. ; Van Wassenhove, J. ; Vermeylen, L.
   *Times of Minima of 116 eclipsing binary systems (2010-2015)* Information Bulletin on Variable Stars, 6230, pp. 1 (2018). DOI: 10.22444/IBVS.6230
- [61] Laverick, Mike ; Lobel, Alex ; Royer, Pierre ; Martayan, Christophe ; Merle, Thibault ; van Hoof, Peter A. M. ; Van de Swaelmen, Mathieu ; David, Marc ; Hensberge, Herman ; Thienpont, Emmanuel *The Belgian Repository of Fundamental Atomic Data and Stellar Spectra (BRASS) Identifying Fruitful Methods for Producing Atomic Data* Galaxies, 6 issue 3, pp. 78 (2018). DOI: 10.3390/galaxies6030078
- [62] Laverick, M., Lobel, A., Merle, T., Royer, P., Martayan, C., David, M., Hensberge, H. and Thienpont, E.
   *The Belgian repository of fundamental atomic data and stellar spectra (BRASS). I. Crossmatching atomic databases of astrophysical interest* Astronomy & Astrophysics, 612, A60 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201731933
- [63] Le Maistre, Sebastien ; Rosenblatt, Pascal ; Dehant, Veronique ; Marty, Jean-Charles ; Yseboodt, Marie Mars rotation determination from a moving rover using Doppler tracking data: What could be done?
  Planetary and Space Science, 159, pp. 17-27 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.pss.2018.03.020 https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S003206331730288X?via%3Dihub
- [64] Mann, G.; Breitling, F.; Vocks, C.; Aurass, H.; Steinmetz, M.; Strassmeier, K. G.; Bisi, M. M.; Fallows, R. A.; Gallagher, P.; Kerdraon, A.; Mackinnon, A.; Magdalenic, J.; Rucker, H. ; Anderson, J.; Asgekar, A.; Avruch, I. M.; Bell, M. E.; Bentum, M. J.; Bernardi, G.; Best, P.; Birzan, L.; Bonafede, A.; Broderick, J. W.; Bruggen, M.; Butcher, H. R.; Ciardi, B.; Corstanje, A.; Gasperin, F. de; Geus, E. de; Deller, A.; Duscha, S.; Eisloffel, J.; Engels, D.; Falcke, H.; Fender, R.; Ferrari, C.; Frieswijk, W.; Garrett, M. A.; Grießmeier, J.; Gunst, A. W.; van Haarlem, M.; Hassall, T. E.; Heald, G.; Hessels, J. W. T.; Hoeft, M.; Horandel, J.; Horneffer, A.; Juette, E.; Karastergiou, A.; Klijn, W. F. A.; Kondratiev, V. I.; Kramer, M.; Kuniyoshi, M.; Kuper, G.; Maat, P.; Markoff, S.; McFadden, R.; McKay-Bukowski, D.; McKean, J. P.; Mulcahy, D. D.; Munk, H.; Nelles, A.; Norden, M. J.; Orru, E.; Paas, H.; Pandey-Pommier, M.; Pandey, V. N.; Pizzo, R.; Polatidis, A. G.; Rafferty, D.; Reich, W.; Rottgering, H.; Scaife, A. M. M.; Schwarz, D. J.; Serylak, M.; Sluman, J.; Smirnov, O.; Stappers, B. W.; Tagger, M.; Tang, Y.; Tasse, C.; ter Veen, S.; Thoudam, S.; Toribio, M. C. ; Vermeulen, R.; van Weeren, R. J.; Wise, M. W.; Wucknitz, O.; Yatawatta, S.; Zarka, P.; Zensus, J. A. Tracking of an electron beam through the solar corona with LOFAR Astronomy & Astrophysics, 611 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201629017
- [65] Marqué, Christophe ; Klein, Karl-Ludwig ; Monstein, Christian ; Opgenoorth, Hermann ; Pulkkinen, Antti ; Buchert, Stephan ; Krucker, Säm ; Van Hoof, Rudiger ; Thulesen, Peter Solar radio emission as a disturbance of aeronautical radionavigation Journal of Space Weather and Space Climate, 8, pp. A42 (2018).
- [66] Mathieu, S.; von Sachs, R.; Delouille, V.; Lefevre, L. Uncertainty Quantification in Sunspot Counts IEEE proceeding (2018).
- [67] Matsuyama, Isamu ; Beuthe, Mikael ; Hay, Hamish ; Nimmo, Francis ; Kamata, Shunichi Ocean tidal heating in icy satellites with solid shells
   Icarus, 312, pp. 208-230 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.icarus.2018.04.013

- [68] McLaughlin, James ; Nakariakov, Valery ; Dominique, Marie ; Jelinek, Petr ; Takasoa, Shinsuke Modelling Quasi-periodic Pulsations in Solar and Stellar Flares Space Science Reviews, 214 issue 45 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11214-018-0478-5
- [69] Michel, P.; Kueppers, M.; Sierks, H.; Carnelli, I.; Cheng, A.F.; Mellab, K; Granvik, M.; Kestila, A.; Kohout, T.; Muinonen, K.; Nasilak, A.; Penttila, A.; Tikka, T.; Tortora, P.; Ciarletti, V.; Herique, A.; Murdoch, N.; Asphaug, E.; Rivkin, A.; Barnouin, O.; Bagatin, A.C.; Pravec, P.; Richardson, D.C.; Schwartz, S.T.; Tsiganis, K.; Ulamec, S.; Karatekin, Ö. *European component of the AIDA mission to a binary asteroid: Characterization and interpretation of the impactof the DART mission* Adv. Space Res., 62, pp. 2261-2272 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.asr.2017.12.020
- [70] Mkrtichian, D. E.; Lehmann, H.; Rodríguez, E.; Olson, E.; Kim, S.-L.; Kusakin, A. V.; Lee, J. W.; Youn, J.-H.; Kwon, S.-G.; López-González, M. J.; Janiashvili, E.; Tiwari, S. K.; Joshi, Santosh; Lampens, P.; Van Cauteren, P.; Glazunova, L.; Gamarova, A.; Grankin, K. N.; Rovithis-Livaniou, E.; Svoboda, P.; Uhlar, R.; Tsymbal, V.; Kokumbaeva, R.; Urushadze, T.; Kuratov, K.; Shin, H.-C.; Kang, Y.-W.; Soonthornthum, B. *The eclipsing binary star RZ Cas: accretion-driven variability of the multimode oscillation spectrum* Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 475 issue 4, pp. 4745-4767 (2018). DOI: 10.1093/mnras/stx2841
- [71] Monier, R.; Gebran, M.; Royer, F.; Kilicoglu, T.; Frémat, Y. HR 8844: A New Transition Object between the Am Stars and the HgMn Stars? The Astrophysical Journal, 854 issue 50, pp. 1-28 (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4357/aaa246
- [72] Morard, Guillaume; Bouchet, Johann; Rivoldini, Attilio; Antonangeli, Daniel; Roberge, Mathilde; Boulard, Eglantine; Denoeud, Adrien; Mezouar, Mohamed Liquid properties in the Fe-FeS system under moderate pressure: tool box to model small planetary cores
   American Mineralogist (2018). DOI: 10.2138/am-2018-6405
- [73] Nanni, A.; Marigo, P.; Girardi, L.; Rubele, S.; Bressan, A.; Groenewegen, M.A.T.; Pastorelli, G.; Aringer, B.
   *Estimating the dust production rate of carbon stars in the Small Magellanic Cloud* Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 473, pp. 5492 (2018).
- [74] Nicolaes, D.; Groenewegen, M.A.T.; Royer, P.; Lombaert, R.; Danilovich, T.; Decin, L. PACS and SPIRE range spectroscopy of cool, evolved stars Astronomy & Astrophysics, 618, pp. A143 (2018).
- [75] Nikolić, D.; Gorczyca, T. W.; Korista, K. T.; Chatzikos, M.; Ferland, G. J.; Guzmán, F.; van Hoof, P. A. M.; Williams, R. J. R.; Badnell, N. R.
  Suppression of Dielectronic Recombination Due to Finite Density Effects. II. Analytical Refinement and Application to Density-dependent Ionization Balances and AGN Broad-line Emission
  The Astrophysical Journal Supplement Series, 237 issue 2, pp. 41 (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4365/aad3c5
- [76] Oberst, J.; Wickhusen, K.; Willner, K.; Gwinner, K.; Spiridonova, S.; Kahle, R.; Caotes, A.; Herique, A.; Plettemeier, D.; Michelena Diaz, M.; Zakharov, A.; Futaana, Y.; Pätzold, M.; Rosenblatt, P.; Lawrence, D.J.; Lainey, V.; Gibbings, A.; Gerth, I. *DePhine The Deimos and Phobos Interior Explorer* Adv. Space Res., 62 issue 8, pp. 2220-2238 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.asr.2017.12.028
- [77] O'Rourke, J.G.; Gillmann, C.; Tackley, P.
   Prospects for an ancient dynamo and modern crustal remnant magnetism on Venus
   Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 502, pp. 46-56 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.epsl.2018.08.055

- [78] Pignatale, F.C.F.; Charnoz, S.; Rosenblatt, P.; Hyodo, R.; Nakamura, T.; Genda, H. On the impact origin of Phobos and Deimos III. Resulting Composition from Different Impactors Astrophysical Journal, 853 issue 2, pp. Id. 118, 12 pages (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4357/aaa23e
- [79] Píriz, Ricardo ; Roldán, Pedro ; Domingo, Francisco ; Garbin, Esteban ; Defraigne, Pascale ; Díaz, Javier
   Practical Traceability to UTC(k) from a GNSS Timing Receiver
   Proceedings of the 2018 IEEE International Symposium on Precision Clock Synchronization for Measurement, Control, and Communication (ISPCS), pp. 1-6 (2018). DOI: 10.1109/ISPCS.2018.8543075
- [80] Poulain, Amaël ; Watlet, Arnaud ; Kaufmann, Olivier ; Van Camp, Michel ; Jourde, Hervé ; Mazzilli, Naomi ; Rochez, Gaëtan ; Deleu, Romain ; Quinif, Yves ; Hallet, Vincent Assessment of groundwater recharge processes through karst vadose zone by cave percolation monitoring Hydrological Processes (2018). DOI: 10.1002/hyp.13138 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/hyp.13138
- [81] Reiss, A.-S. ; Thomas, C. ; Lecocq, T. Using SP precursor waves to detect upper mantle discontinuities Geophysical Journal International (2018). DOI: 10.1093/gji/ggy369
- [82] Riley, P. ; Mays, M. L. ; Andries, J. ; Amerstorfer, T. ; Biesecker, D. ; Delouille, V. ; Dumbović, M. ; Feng, X. ; Henley, E. ; Linker, J. A. ; Möstl, C. ; Nuñez, M. ; Pizzo, V. ; Temmer, M. ; Tobiska, W. K. ; Verbeke, .C ; West, M. J. ; Zhao, X. Forecasting the Arrival Time of Coronal Mass Ejections: Analysis of the CCMC CME Scoreboard Space Weather, 16 (issue 9), pp 1245-1260 (2018). DOI: 10.1029/2018SW001962
- [83] Ritter, B.; Gérard, J.-C.; Hubert, B.; Rodriguez, L.; Montmessin, F. Observations of the Proton Aurora on Mars with SPICAM on board Mars Express Geophysical Research Letters, 45 issue 2, pp. 612-619 (2018). DOI: 10.1002/2017GL076235
- [84] Rodkin, D.; Slemzin, V.; Zhukov, A. N.; Goryaev, F.; Shugay, Y.; Veselovsky, I. Single ICMEs and Complex Transient Structures in the Solar Wind in 2010 – 2011 Solar Physics, 293, pp. 78 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11207-018-1295-4
- [85] Rougeot, R.; Aime, C.; Baccani, C.; Fineschi, S.; Flamary, R.; Galano, D.; Galy, C.; Kirschner, V.; Landini, F.; Romoli, M.; Shestov, S.; Thizy, C.; Versluys, J.; Zhukov, A. Straylight analysis for the externally occulted Lyot solar coronagraph ASPIICS Proceedings of SPIE, 10698, pp. 106982T (2018). DOI: 10.1117/12.2313258
- [86] Roux, P.; Bindi, D.; Boxberger, T.; Colombi, A.; Cotton, F.; Douste-Bacque, I.; Garambois, S.; Gueguen, P.; Hillers, G.; Hollis, D.; Lecocq, T.; Pondaven, I. *Toward Seismic Metamaterials: The METAFORET Project* Seismological Research Letters (2018). DOI: 10.1785/0220170196 <u>https://pubs.geoscienceworld.org/ssa/srl/article/525828/toward-seismic-metamaterials-the-metaforet-project</u>
- [87] Rovera, Daniele G. ; Abgrall, Michel ; Uhrich, Pierre ; Defraigne, Pascale ; Bertrand, Bruno GNSS antenna multipath effects
  2018 European Frequency and Time Forum (EFTF), pp. 208-212 (2018). DOI: 10.1109/EFTF.2018.8409034 <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8409034</u>

- [88] Rubele, S. ; Pastorelli, G. ; Girardi, L. ; Cioni, M.-R.L. ; Zaggia, S. ; Marigo, P. ; Bekki, K. ; Bressan, A. ; Clementini, G. ; de Grijs, R. ; Emerson, J. ; Groenewegen, M.A.T. ; Ivanov, V.D. ; Muraveva, T. ; Nanni, A. ; Oliveira, J.M. ; Ripepi, V. ; Sun, N.-C. ; van Loon, J.Th. *The VMC survey - XXXI: The spatially resolved star formation history of the main body of the Small Magellanic Cloud* Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 478, pp. 5017 (2018).
- [89] Samadi Gh., A.; Lampens, P.; Jassur, D. M.
   *KIC 6048106: An Algol-type Eclipsing System with Long-term Magnetic Activity and Hybrid Pulsations. I. Binary Modelling* Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society, 474, pp. 5549 (2018).
- [90] Samadi Ghadim, A.; Lampens, P.; Jassur, D. M. Hybrid Pulsations and Tidal Splitting detected in the Kepler Eclipsing and Spotted Binary System KIC 6048106 Acta Astronomica, 68 issue 4, pp. 425-447 (2018). DOI: 10.32023/0001-5237/68.4.6
- [91] Sartoretti, P. ; Katz, D. ; Cropper, M. ; Panuzzo, P. ; Seabroke, G. M. ; Viala, Y. ; Benson, K. ; Blomme, R. ; Jasniewicz, G. ; Jean-Antoine, A. ; Huckle, H. ; Smith, M. ; Baker, S. ; Crifo, F. ; Damerdji, Y. ; David, M. ; Dolding, C. ; Frémat, Y. ; Gosset, E. ; Guerrier, A. ; Guy, L. P. ; Haigron, R. ; Janßen, K. ; Marchal, O. ; Plum, G. ; Soubiran, C. ; Thévenin, F. ; Ajaj, M. ; Allende Prieto, C. ; Babusiaux, C. ; Boudreault, S. ; Chemin, L. ; Delle Luche, C. ; Fabre, C. ; Gueguen, A. ; Hambly, N. C. ; Lasne, Y. ; Meynadier, F. ; Pailler, F. ; Panem, C. ; Riclet, F. ; Royer, F. ; Tauran, G. ; Zurbach, C. ; Zwitter, T. ; Arenou, F. ; Gomez, A. ; Lemaitre, V. ; Leclerc, N. ; Morel, T. ; Munari, U. ; Turon, C. ; Žerjal, M. *Gaia Data Release 2. Processing the spectroscopic data* Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A6, 25 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832836
- [92] Scolini, C. ; Messerotti, M. ; Poedts, S. ; Rodriguez, L. Halo Coronal Mass Ejections during Solar Cycle 24: reconstruction of the global scenario and geoeffectiveness Journal of Space Weather and Space Climate, 8 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/swsc/2017046
- [93] Scolini, Camilla ; Verbeke, Christine ; Poedts, Stefaan ; Chané, Emmanuel ; Pomoell, Jens ; Zuccarello, Francesco P.
   *Effect of the Initial Shape of Coronal Mass Ejections on 3-D MHD Simulations and Geoeffectiveness Predictions* Space Weather, 16 (issue 6), pp 754-771 (2018). DOI: 10.1029/2018SW001806
- [94] Semaan, T.; Hubert, A. M.; Zorec, J.; Gutiérrez-Soto, J.; Frémat, Y.; Martayan, C.; Fabregat, J.; Eggenberger, P. Study of a sample of faint Be stars in the exofield of CoRoT. II. Pulsation and outburst events: Time series analysis of photometric variations Astronomy & Astrophysics, 613 issue A70, pp. 1-45 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201629243
- [95] Shestov, S. V.; Zhukov, A. N.
   Influence of misalignments on the performance of externally occulted solar coronagraphs Astronomy & Astrophysics, 612 issue January, pp. A82 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201732386 <u>https://www.aanda.org/articles/aa/abs/2018/04/aa32386-17/aa32386-17.html</u>
- [96] Smrekar, Suzanne E. ; Lognonné, Philippe ; Spohn, Tilman ; Banerdt, W. Bruce ; Breuer, Doris ; Christensen, Ulrich ; Dehant, Véronique ; Drilleau, Mélanie ; Folkner, William ; Fuji, Nobuaki ; Garcia, Raphael F. ; Giardini, Domenico ; Golombek, Matthew ; Grott, Matthias ; Gudkova, Tamara ; Johnson, Catherine ; Khan, Amir ; Langlais, Benoit ; Mittelholz, Anna ; Mocquet, Antoine ; Myhill, Robert ; Panning, Mark ; Perrin, Clément ; Pike, Tom ; Plesa, Ana-Catalina ; Rivoldini, Attilio ; Samuel, Henri ; Stähler, Simon C. ; van Driel, Martin ; Van Hoolst, Tim ; Verhoeven, Olivier ; Weber, Renee ; Wieczorek, Mark

*Pre-mission InSights on the Interior of Mars* Space Science Reviews, 215 issue 1 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11214-018-0563-9

- [97] Snodgrass, C.; Jones, G.H.; Boehnhardt, H.; Gibbings, A.; Homeister, M.; Andre, N.; Beck, P.; Bentley, M.S.; Bertini, I.; Bowles, N.; Capria, M.T.; Carr, C.; Ceriotti, M.; Coates, A.J.; Della Corte, V.; Donaldson Hanna, K.L.; Fitzsimmons, A.; Gutiérrez, P.J.; Hainaut, O.R.; Herique, A.; Hilchenbach, M.; Hsieh, H.H.; Jehin, E.; Karatekin, O.; Kofman, W.; Lara, L.M.; Laudan, K.; Licandro, J.; Lowry, S.C.; Marzari, F.; Masters, A.; Meech, K.J.; Moreno, F.; Morse, A.; Orosei, R.; Pack, A.; Plettemeier, D.; Prialnik, D.; Rotundi, A.; Rubin, M.; Sánchez, J.P.; Sheridan, S.; Trieloff, M.; Winterboer, A. *The Castalia mission to Main Belt Comet 133P/Elst-Pizarro* Adv. Space Res., 62 issue 8, pp. 1947-1976 (2018).
- [98] Soubiran, C. ; Jasniewicz, G. ; Chemin, L. ; Zurbach, C. ; Brouillet, N. ; Panuzzo, P. ; Sartoretti, P. ; Katz, D. ; Le Campion, J.-F. ; Marchal, O. ; Hestroffer, D. ; Thévenin, F. ; Crifo, F. ; Udry, S. ; Cropper, M. ; Seabroke, G. ; Viala, Y. ; Benson, K. ; Blomme, R. ; Jean-Antoine, A. ; Huckle, H. ; Smith, M. ; Baker, S. G. ; Damerdji, Y. ; Dolding, C. ; Frémat, Y. ; Gosset, E. ; Guerrier, A. ; Guy, L. P. ; Haigron, R. ; Janßen, K. ; Plum, G. ; Fabre, C. ; Lasne, Y. ; Pailler, F. ; Panem, C. ; Riclet, F. ; Royer, F. ; Tauran, G. ; Zwitter, T. ; Gueguen, A. ; Turon, C. *Gaia Data Release 2. The catalogue of radial velocity standard stars* Astronomy & Astrophysics, 616, pp. A7, 8 pp (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201832795
- [99] Spiga, Aymeric ; Banfield, D. ; Teanby, N.A. ; Forget, F. ; Lucas, A. ; Kenda, B. ; Rodriguez Manfredi, J.A. ; Murdoch, N. ; Lemmon, M.T. ; Garcia, R. ; Martire, L. ; Karatekin, Ozgur ; Le Maistre, Sebastien ; Van Hove, Bart ; Dehant, Veronique ; Lognonné, P. ; Mueller, N. ; Lorenz, R.D. ; Mimoun, D ; Beucler, E. ; Daubar, I. ; Golombek, M. ; Bertrand, T. ; Nishikawa, Y. ; Millour, E. ; Rolland, L. ; Brissaud, Q. ; Kawamura, T. ; Mocquet, A. ; Martin, R. ; Clinton, J. ; Stuzmann, E. ; Spohn, T. ; Smrekar, S. E. ; Banerdt, W.B. *Atmospheric Science with InSight* Space Science Reviews, 214 issue 7, pp. 1-64 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11214-018-0543-0
- [100] Surdej, J.; Hickson, P.; Borra, H.; Swings, J.-P.; Habraken, S.; Akhunov, T.; Bartczak, P.; Chand, H.; De Becker, M.; Delchambre, L.; Finet, F.; Kumar, B.; Pandey, A.; Pospieszalska, A.; Pradhan, B.; Sagar, R.; Wertz, O.; De Cat, P.; Denis, S.; de Ville, J.; Jaiswar, M. K.; Lampens, P.; Nanjappa, N.; Tortolani, J.-M. *The 4-m International Liquid Mirror Telescope* Bulletin de la Société Royale des Sciences de Liège, 87, pp. 68-79 (2018). DOI: 10.25518/0037-9565.7498 https://popups.uliege.be/0037-9565/index.php?id=7498
- [101] Termonia, P.; Van Schaeybroeck, B.; De Cruz, L.; De Troch, R.; Caluwaerts, S.; Giot, O.; Hamdi, R.; Vannitsem, S.; Willems, P.; Tabari, H.; Van Uytven, E.; Hosseinzadehtalaei, P.; Van Lipzig, N.; Wouters, H.; Vanden Broucke, S.; van Ypersele, J.-P.; Marbaix, P.; Villanueva-Birriel, C.; Fettweis, X.; Wyard, C.; Scholzen, C.; Doutreloup, S.; De Ridder, K. ; Gobin, A.; Lauwaet, D.; Stavrakou, T.; Bauwens, M.; Müller, J.-F.; Luyten, P.; Ponsar, S. ; Van den Eynde, D.; Pottiaux, E. *The CORDEX.be initiative as a foundation for climate services in Belgium* Climate Service, Volume 11, Pages 49-61 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.cliser.2018.05.001 <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405880717300195</u>
- [102] Tertulliani, A.; Cecić, I.; Meurers, R.; Sović, I.; Kaiser, D.; Grünthal, G.; Pazdírková, J.; Sira, C.; Guterch, B.; Kysel, R.; Camelbeeck, T.; Lecocq, T.; Szanyi, G. *The 6 May 1976 Friuli earthquake: re-evaluating and consolidating transnational macroseismic data*Bollettino di Geofisica Teorica ed Applicata, 59 issue 4, pp. 417-444 (2018). DOI: 10.4430/bgta0234 <u>http://www3.ogs.trieste.it/bgta/provapage.php?id\_articolo=766</u>

- [103] Thiemann, E. M. B.; Eparvier, F. G.; Bougher, S. W.; Dominique, M.; Andersson, L.; Girazian, Z.; Pilinski, M. D.; Templeman, B.; Jakosky, B. M. Mars Thermospheric Variability Revealed by MAVEN EUVM Solar Occultations: Structure at Aphelion and Perihelion, and Response to EUV Forcing Journal of Geophysical Research: Planets, 123 issue 9, pp. 2248-2270 (2018). DOI: 10.1029/2018JE005550
- [104] Van Camp, M.; Richard, P.; de Viron, O. *Universal Units Reflect Their Earthly Origins*  EOS Transactions American Geophysical Union, 99 (2018). DOI: 10.1029/2018EO109747 <u>https://eos.org/project-updates/recording-belgiums-gravitational-history</u>
- [105] Van de Steene, G. C. ; Hrivnak, B. J. ; Van Winckel, H. ; Sperauskas, J. ; Bohlender, D. Spectroscopic and Photometric Variability of Three Oxygen Rich Post-AGB "Shell" Objects Galaxies, 6 issue 4, pp. 131-135 (2018). DOI: 10.3390/galaxies6040131 <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2075-4434/6/4/131/htm</u>
- [106] van Hoof, Peter A. M.
   *Recent Development of the Atomic Line List* Galaxies, 6 issue 2, pp. 63 (2018). DOI: 10.3390/galaxies6020063
- [107] van Hoof, Peter A. M.; Kimeswenger, Stefan; Van de Steene, Griet; Avison, Adam; Zijlstra, Albert; Guzman-Ramirez, Lizette; Herwig, Falk; Hajduk, Marcin *The Real-Time Evolution of V4334 Sgr* Galaxies, 6 issue 3, pp. 79-84 (2018). DOI: 10.3390/galaxies6030079 <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2075-4434/6/3/79</u>
- [108] Vandaele, A. C.; Lopez-Moreno, J.-J.; Patel, M. R.; Bellucci, G.; Daerden, F.; Ristic, B.; Robert, S.; Thomas, I. R.; Wilquet, V.; Allen, M.; Alonso-Rodrigo, G.; Altieri, F.; Aoki, S.; Bolsé, D.; Clancy, T.; Cloutis, E.; Depiesse, C.; Drummond, R.; Fedorova, A.; Formisano, V.; Funke, B.; González-Galindo, F.; Geminale, A.; Gérard, J.-C.; Giuranna, M.; Hetey, L.; Ignatiev, N.; Kaminski, J.; Karatekin, O.; Kasaba, Y.; Leeve, M.; Lefèvre, F.; Lewis, S. R.; López-Puertas, M.; López-Valverde, M.; Mahieux, A.; Mason, J.; McConnell, J.; Mumma, M.; Neary, L.; Neerfs, E.; Renotte, E.; Rodriguez-Gomez, J.; Sindoni, G.; Smith, M.; Stiepen, A.; Trokhimovsky, A.; Vander Auwera, J.; Villanueva, G.; Viscardy, S.; Whiteway, J.; Willame, Y.; Wolff, M.; Aparecido Del Moral, B.; Barzin, P.; BenMoussa, A.; Berkenbosch, S.; Biondi, D.; Bonnewijn, S.; Candini, G. P.; Clairquin, R.; Cubas, J.; Delanoye, S.; Giordanengo, B.; Gissot, S.; Gomez, A.; Maes, J.; Mazy, E.; Mazzoli, A.; Meseguer, J.; Morales, R.; Orban, A.; Pastor-Morales, M. del Carmen; Perez-Grande, I.; Queirolo, C.; Saggin, B.; Samain, V.; Sanz Andres, A.; Sanz, R.; Simar, J.-F.; Thibert, T.; Zafra, J. J. NOMAD, an Integrated Suite of Three Spectrometers for the ExoMars Trace Gas Mission: Technical Description, Science Objectives and Expected Performance Space Sci Rev, 214 issue 80 (2018). DOI: 10.1007/s11214-018-0517-2
- [109] Vanneste, Kris ; Stein, Seth ; Camelbeeck, Thierry ; Vleminckx, Bart Insights into earthquake hazard map performance from shaking history simulations Scientific Reports, 8, pp. 1855-1865 (2018). DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-20214-6
- [110] Vanneste, Kris ; Wils, Katleen ; Van Daele, Maarten Probabilistic Evaluation of Fault Sources Based on Paleoseismic Evidence From Mass- Transport Deposits: The Example of Aysén Fjord, Chile Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth, Volume123, Issue11, pp 9842-9865 (2018). DOI: 10.1029/2018JB016289 <a href="https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1029/2018JB016289">https://agupubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1029/2018JB016289</a>
- [111] Vincent, D.; Karatekin, O.; Lambrechts, J.; Lorenz, R.D.; Dehant, V.; Deleersnijder, E. A numerical study of tides in Titan's northern seas, Kraken and Ligeia Maria Icarus, 310, pp. 105-126 (2018). DOI: 10.1016/j.icarus.2017.12.018

- [112] Vocks, Christian ; Mann, Gottfried ; Bisi, Mario M. ; Dabrowski, Bartosz ; Fallows, Richard ;
   Gallagher, Peter T. ; Krankowski, Andrzej ; Magdalenić, Jasmina ; Marqué, Christophe ;
   Morosan, Danna ; Rucker, Helmut O.
   LOFAR observations of the quiet solar corona
   Astronomy and Astrophysics, 614, pp. A54 (2018).
- [113] Watlet, Arnaud ; Kaufmann, Olivier ; Triantafyllou, Antoine ; Poulain, Amaël ; Chambers, Jonathan E. ; Meldrum, Philip I. ; Wilkinson, Paul B. ; Hallet, Vincent ; Quinif, Yves ; Van Ruymbeke, Michel ; Van Camp, Michel *Imaging groundwater infiltration dynamics in the karst vadose zone with long-term ERT monitoring*Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 22, pp. 1563-1592 (2018). DOI: 10.5194/hess-22-1563-2018 <a href="https://www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/22/1563/2018/">https://www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/22/1563/2018/</a>
- [114] Ying, B.; Feng, L.; Lu, L.; Zhang, J.; Magdalenic, J.; Su, Y.; Su, Y.; Gan, W. Properties of a Small-scale Short-duration Solar Eruption with a Driven Shock The Astrophysical Journal, 856 issue 1 (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4357/aaadaf
- [115] Zong, W.; Fu, J.-N.; De Cat, P.; Shi, J. R.; Luo, A. L.; Zhang, H. T.; Frasca, A.; Corbally, C. J.; Molenda-Żakowicz, J.; Catanzaro, G.; Gray, R. O.; Wang, J. T.; Pan, Y.; Ren, A. B.; Zhang, R.; Jin, M. Q.; Wu, Y.; Dong, S.; Xie, J.-W.; Zhang, W.; Hou, Y. H.; LAMOST-Kepler, collaboration *AMOST Observations in the Kepler Field. II. Database of the Low-resolution Spectra from the Five-year Regular Survey*The Astrophysical Journal Supplement Series, 238 issue 2, pp. id. 30 (1-10) (2018). DOI: 10.3847/1538-4365/aadf81 <a href="https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.3847/1538-4365/aadf81/meta">https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.3847/1538-4365/aadf81/meta</a>
- [116] Zucca, P.; Morosan, D. E.; Rouillard, A. P.; Fallows, R.; Gallagher, P. T.; Magdalenic, J.; Klein, K.-L.; Mann, G.; Vocks, C.; Carley, E. P.; Bisi, M. M.; Kontar, E. P.; Rothkaehl, H.; Dabrowski, B.; Krankowski, A.; Anderson, J.; Asgekar, A.; Bell, M. E.; Bentum, M. J.; Best, P.; Blaauw, R.; Breitling, F.; Broderick, J. W.; Brouw, W. N.; Bruggen, M.; Butcher, H. R.; Ciardi, B.; de Geus, E.; Deller, A.; Duscha, S.; Eisloffel, J.; Garrett, M. A.; Grießmeier, J. M.; Gunst, A. W.; Heald, G.; Hoeft, M.; Horandel, J.; Iacobelli, M.; Juette, E.; Karastergiou, A.; van Leeuwen, J.; McKay-Bukowski, D.; Mulder, H.; Munk, H.; Nelles, A.; Orru, E.; Paas, H.; Pandey, V. N.; Pekal, R.; Pizzo, R.; Polatidis, A. G.; Reich, W.; Rowlinson, A.; Schwarz, D. J.; Shulevski, A.; Sluman, J.; Smirnov, O.; Sobey, C.; Soida, M.; Thoudam, S.; Toribio, M. C.; Vermeulen, R.; van Weeren, R. J.; Wucknitz, O.; Zarka, P.

Shock location and CME 3D reconstruction of a solar type II radio burst with LOFAR Astronomy & Astrophysics, 615 (2018). DOI: 10.1051/0004-6361/201732308

#### **Publications without peer review**

- [117] Alexandre, Pierre ; Alexandre, Dominique
   Les séismes en Europe orientale au Moyen Age (suite): Les tremblements de terre du 5 juin
   1443 et du 29 août 1471 Les séismes en Prusse et en Dalmatie
   Ciel et Terre, 134, pp. 2-20 (2018).
- [118] Antoja, T.; Arenou, F.; Babusiaux, C.; Barache, C.; Bossini, D.; Breddels, M.; Cantat-Gaudin, T.; Diakité, S.; Fabricius, C.; Fabrizio, M.; Helmi, A.; Jordi, C.; Leclerc, N.; Luri, X.; Marrese, P. M.; Massari, D.; Mignard, F.; Muraveva, T.; Pauwels, T.; Reylé, C.; Robichon, N.; Robin, A.; Romero-Gómez, M.; Sordo, R.; Soria, S.; Spoto, F.; Tanga, P.; Turon, C.; Vallenari, A.; Veljanoski, J. *Gaia DR2 documentation Chapter 10: Catalogue validation* Gaia DR2 documentation, European Space Agency; Gaia Data Processing and Analysis Consortium. (2018).
- [119] Baland, R.M.; Coyette, A.; Van Hoolst, T. *The coupling between the polar motion and the spin precession of Titan* European Planetary Science Congress - EPSC Abstracts, 12, pp. EPSC2018-691 (2018).
- [120] Bruyninx, C. ; EPOS, GNSS team EPOS-IP Deliverable D10.3 Report on Dissemination and Impact Assessment H2020 Participant Portal, pp. 1-11 (2018).
- [121] Bruyninx, C.; Fabian, A.; Legrand, J.; EPOS, GNSS team *EPOS-IP Deliverable D10.8 Tools for Submission, Validation and Access to Data, Metadata, and Products* H2020 Participant Portal, pp. 1-85 (2018).
- [122] Bruyninx, C.; Kenyeres, A.; Söhne, W.; Dousa, J.; Avallone, A.; D'Agostino, N.; Steffen, H.; Lidberg, M.; Nilfouroushan, F.; Vergnolle, M.; Menut, J.-L; Legrand, J.; Fernandes, R.; Bos, M.; Crocker, P.; Cardoso, R.; Socquet, A.; Liwosz, T. *Data Management Plan for the EPOS GNSS TCS* Internal EPOS report, pp. 1-37 (2018).
- [123] Bruyninx, C. ; Legrand, J. ; Fabian, A. ; EPOS, GNSS team EPOS-IP Deliverable D10.4 Report on Use Cases, Requirements, Metadata and Interoperability of WP10 Internal EPOS report, pp. 1-13 (2018).
- [124] Bruyninx, C.; Bergeot, N.; Chatzinikos, M.; Chevalier, J.-M.; Fabian, A.; Legrand, J.; Pottiaux, E.; Voet, P.; De Doncker, F. *EUREF 2018 National Report of Belgium* Proc. Symposium of the IAG Subcommission for Europe (EUREF) held in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 30 May - 01 June 2018 (2018).
- [125] Bruyninx, C.; Legrand, J.; Fabian, A.; Pottiaux, E. Monitoring of Permanent GNSS Networks Used for Accessing the Terrestrial Reference Frame COSPAR 2018. 42nd Assembly. Scientific Assembly Abstracts, pp. 348-348 (2018).
- [126] Bruyninx, C. Guidelines for EPOS-GNSS Stations and Operational Centres M3G-Bureau web site, pp. 1-9 (2018).
- [127] Bruyninx, C. ; Altamimi, Z. ; Caporali, A. ; Kenyeres, A. ; Legrand, J. ; Lidberg, M. *Guidelines for EUREF Densifications* EUREF Permanent GNSS Network Central Bureau (on-line), pp. 1-12 (2018).

- [128] Calders, S.; Lamy, H.; Martínez Picar, A.; Tétard, C.; Verbeeck, C.; Gamby, E. *The Radio Meteor Zoo: involving Citizen Scientists in radio meteor research* Proceedings of the International Meteor Conference 2017, Petnica, Serbia, September 21-24 (2018).
- [129] Cellino, A.; Berthier, J.; Delbò, M.; Dell'Oro, A.; Galluccio, L.; Mignard, F.; Muinonen, K. ; Pauwels, T.; Petit, J.; Spoto, F.; Tanga, P. *Gaia DR2 documentation Chapter 4: Solar-System Objects* Gaia DR2 documentation, European Space Agency; Gaia Data Processing and Analysis Consortium. (2018).
- [130] Chatzikos, Marios ; Ferland, Gary ; Guzman, Francisco ; van Hoof, Peter ; Williams, Robin Advances in the C17 Release of the Spectral Code CLOUDY
   Walking the Line 2018, held 14-16 March, 2018 in Phoenix, Arizona. Online at https://walk2018.weebly.com/, id.13 (2018). DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1209973
- [131] Clette, Frédéric ; Lefèvre, Laure *The new Sunspot Number: continuing upgrades and possible impacts*  Proceedings of the International Astronomical Union, 13 issue Symp. 340, pp. 17-22 (2018). DOI: 10.1017/S1743921318001813
- [132] Cliver, E.W.; D'Huys, E. Size distributions of solar proton events and their asso-ciated soft X-ray flares based on the maximum likelihood estimator CESRA Solar Radio Science Highlights (2018).
- [133] De Cat, Peter ; Cuypers, Jan ; Blomme, Ronny ; Frémat, Yves ; Groenewegen, Martin ; Lampens, Patricia ; Lobel, Alex ; Pauwels, Thierry ; Van de Steene, Griet ; van Hoof, Peter *The BINA collaboration: science at the Royal Observatory of Belgium* Bulletin de la Société Royale des Sciences de Liège, 87, pp. 92-101 (2018). DOI: 10.25518/0037-9565.7528
- [134] De Cat, P. ; Surdej, J. ; Omar, A. ; De Becker, M. ; Joshi, S. *Proceedings of the 1st BINA workshop: Instrumentation and Science with the 3.6-m DOT and 4-m ILMT telescopes.* Bulletin de la Société Royale des Sciences de Liège, 87, pp. 1-14 (2018). DOI: 10.25518/0037-9565.7435
- [135] Defraigne, Pascale ; Verhasselt, Katrijn *Multi-GNSS Time Transfer with CGGTTS-V2E* Proceedings of the 32nd European Frequency and Time Forum, pp. 270-275 (2018).
- [136] Dehant, V.; Le Maistre, S.; Baland, R.-M.; Karatekin, O.; Mitrovic, M.; Peters, M.-J.; Rivoldini, A.; Van Hoolst, T.; Van Hove, B.; Yseboodt, M. *LaRa (Lander Radioscience) on the ExoMars 2020 Surface Platform* Proceedings ESA Scientific Workshop: From Mars Express to ExoMars, ESAC Madrid, Spain, 27-28 February 2018 (2018).
- [137] Deprez, A.; Socquet, A.; d'Agostino, N.; Avallone, A.; Kenyeres, A.; Legrand, J.; Lidberg, M.; Ganas, A.; Steffen, H.; Fernandes, R.; Bos, M.
   EPOS-IP Deliverable D10.9 Products derived from GNSS data analysis
   H2020 Participant Portal (2018).
- [138] Fernandes, R.; Bos, M.; Crocker, P.; Bruyninx, C.; Cardoso, R.; Vergnolle, M. EPOS-IP Deliverable D10.6 Service Validation Report of TCS GNSS Data and Products H2020 Participant Portal, pp. 1-17 (2018).

- [139] Fremat, Y; Van Eck, S; Aerts, C; Baes, M; Berghmans, D; Bruyninx, C; Buitinke, S;
  David, M; Defraigne, P; Dehant, V; De Keyser, J; De Rijke, S; Fuzfah, A; Groenewegen, M; Hertog, T; Javaux, E; Jorissen, A; Keppens, R; Kolenberg, K; Lefever, K; Lemaitre, A;
  Lobera, A; Neefs, E; Pourbaix, D; Quinet, P; Rauw, G; Ringeval, C; Surdej, J; Tytgat, M;
  Van der Linden, R; van Hoof, P; Van Hoolst, T
  Research Activities in Astronomy and Astrophysics in Belgium
  Belgian Physical Society Magazine, 1-2018, pp. 5-19 (2018).
- [140] Gloesener, E. ; Karatekin, O. ; Dehant, V. Methane transport in the subsurface of Mars Proc. EPSC 2018, 12 (2018).
- [141] Gross, R.; Seitz, F.; Escapa, A.; Huang, C.; et al., including; Dehant, Veronique Commission A2 Rotation of the Earth, Triennial Report 2015-2018 Transactions IAU, Reports on Astronomy 2009-2012, pp. 16 (2018).
- [142] Halain, J.-P.; Rochus, P.; Renotte, E.; Auchère, F.; Berghmans, D.; Delmotte, F.; Harra, L.; Schühle, U.; Schmutz, W.; Aznar Cuadrado, R.; Dumesnil, C.; Gyo, M.; Kennedy, T.; Verbeeck, C.; Barbay, J.; Giordanengo, B.; Gissot, S.; Heerlein, K.; Hermans, A.; Hervier, V.; Jacques, L.; Mazzoli, A.; Meining, S.; Philippon, A.; Roose, S.; Teriaca, L.; Smith, P. *The EUI flight instrument of Solar Orbiter From Optical Alignment to End-to-End Calibration* Proceedings SPIE 10699, Space Telescopes and Instrumentation 2018: Ultraviolet to Gamma Ray (2018).
- [143] Hestroffer, Daniel ; Berthier, Jérôme ; Cellino, Alberto ; David, Pedro ; Delbo, Marco ; Dell'Oro, Aldo ; Muinonen, Karri ; Pauwels, Thierry ; Petit, Jean-Marc ; Thuillot, William Science of Solar System Objects with the Gaia Mapping Mission and the GDR Catalogues COSPAR 2018. 42nd Assembly. Scientific Assembly Abstracts, pp. 209-209 (2018).
- [144] Kanj, Amale ; Delporte, Jerome ; Suard, Norbert ; Bonhoure, Bernard ; Defraigne, Pascale, Galileo Open Service Time performance
  2018 IEEE/ION Position, Location and Navigation Symposium (PLANS), pp. 1409-1413 (2018).
- [145] Lampens, P.; Vermeylen, L.; De Cat, P.; Sódor, Á.; Bognár, Zs.; Frémat, Y.; Skarka, M.; Lehmann, H.
   *Radial velocity monitoring of (candidate) hybrid A- and F-type stars from the Kepler mission* Zenodo (2018). DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1493166
- [146] Lamy, H.; Calders, S.; Tétard, C.; Verbeeck, C.; Martínez Picar, A.; Gamby, E. *The Radio Meteor Zoo: searching for meteors in BRAMS radio observations* Proceedings of the European Planetary Science Congress 2017, Riga, Latvia, September 17-22 (2018).
- [147] Lamy, H.; Tétard, C.; Anciaux, M.; Ranvier, S.; Martínez Picar, A.; Calders, S.; Verbeeck, C.
   *First observations with the BRAMS radio interferometer* Proceedings of the International Meteor Conference 2017, Petnica, Serbia, September 21-24 (2018).
- [148] Laverick, M.; Lobel, A.; Royer, P.; Martayan, C.; Merle, T.; van Hoof, P. A. M.; Van der Swaelmen, M.; David, M.; Hensberge, H.; Thienpont, E. *The Belgian Repository of Fundamental Atomic Data and Stellar Spectra: An Insight into Systematic Line Selection* ASP Conference Series, 515, pp. 263 (2018).

- [149] Le Maistre, S. ; Dehant, V. ; Marty, J.C.
   Mars nutation estimate from radio-tracking of landed missions anterior to InSight and ExoMars 2020
   Proc. EPSC 2018, 12 (2018).
- [150] Lecocq, T.; Vanneste, K.; Camelbeeck, T. *The first records of the AcceleROB network* ROB Internal Report (2018).
- [151] Lecocq, T. Induced seismic activity around Mol/Dessel: report on the seismic activity recorded in December 2018 ROB Internal Report (2018).
- [152] Lefèvre, Laure ; Clette, Frédéric
   The Sunspot Number revision and recalibration: an ongoing effort
   Proceedings of the 42nd COSPAR Scientific Assembly, 42, pp. D2.4-5-18 (2018).
- [153] Legrand, J.; Bruyninx, C. Quality Assessment of the EPN Multi-year Position and Velocity Solution COSPAR 2018. 42nd Assembly. Scientific Assembly Abstracts, pp. 349-349 (2018).
- [154] Legrand, J.

WP10-DDSS-018 - Products.EUREF.ReferenceFrame: Validation procedures and quality checks performed at ROB EPOS Product Portal (online) (2018).

[155] Legrand, J.

*WP10-DDSS-018 - Products.EUREF.ReferenceFrame: Validation procedures and quality checks results* 

EPOS Product Portal (online) (2018).

- [156] Lobel, A.; Royer, P.; Martayan, C.; Laverick, M.; Merle, T.; van Hoof, P. A. M.; Van der Swaelmen, M.; David, M.; Hensberge, H.; Thienpont, E. *The Belgian Repository of Fundamental Atomic Data and Stellar Spectra: Atomic Line Data Validation* ASP Conference Series, 515, pp. 255 (2018).
- [157] Martínez Picar, Antonio ; Marqué, Christophe Using SPADE for radio meteor observations Proceedings of the International Meteor Conference Pezinok-Modra, Slovakia, August 30-September 2, 2018 (2018).
- [158] Merle, T. ; Laverick, M. ; Royer, P. ; Van der Swaelmen, M. ; Frémat, Y. ; Sekaran, S. ; Martayan, C. ; van Hoof, P. A. M. ; David, M. ; Hensberge, H. ; Thienpont, E. *The Belgian Repository of fundamental Atomic data and Stellar Spectra (BRASS)* Proceedings of the Annual meeting of the French Society of Astronomy and Astrophysics. Eds.: P. Di Matteo, F. Billebaud, F. Herpin, N. Lagarde, J.-B. Marquette, A. Robin, O. Venot, pp. 153-156 (2018).
- [159] Pattyn, F.; Bruyninx, C.; Tison, J.-L.; Bergeot, N.; Favier, L.; Van Dam, T.; Drews, R.; Callens, D.; Philippe, M.; Matsuoka, K.; Hubbard, B. *Constraining Ice mass Changes in Coastal Dronning Maud Land, Antarctica "ICECON"* Final Report Research Project SD/CA/06A, Thematic Antarctica - Climate, pp. 1-87 (2018).
- [160] Pauwels, Thierry *Minor Planet Observations [012 Uccle]* Minor Planet Circulars, pp. 107826-107826 (2018).
- [161] Pauwels, Thierry *Minor Planet Observations [012 Uccle]* Minor Planet Circulars, pp. 110174 (2018).
- [162] Pauwels, Thierry *Minor Planet Observations [012 Uccle]* Minor Planet Circulars, pp. 110808 (2018).
- [163] Pla-García, J.; Rafkin, S.C.R.; Webster, C.R.; Mahaffy, P.R.; Karatekin, O.; Gloesener, E.; Moores, J.E.
   Martian winds could drive seasonal methane variations observed by MSL-SAM: implications for TGO observations
   European Planetary Science Congress - EPSC Abstracts, 12, pp. EPSC2018-1069 (2018).
- [164] Polińska, M.; Niemczura, E.; Murphy, S. J.; Bruntt, H.; Uytterhoeven, K.; De Cat, P. Spectroscopic analysis of A- and F-type stars observed in the Kepler field Proceedings of the Polish Astronomical Society, 7, pp. 197-200 (2018).
- [165] Poutanen, M.; Altamimi, Z.; Brockmann, E.; Bruyninx, C.; Caporali, A.; Dach, R.; Dousa, J.; Fernandes, R.; Kenyeres, A.; Legrand, J.; Lidberg, M.; Liwosz, T.; Pacione, R.; Sacher, M.; Söhne, W.; Stangl, G.; Torres, J.; Völksen, C. *Towards Next Generation Reference Frames in Europe* COSPAR 2018. 42nd Assembly. Scientific Assembly Abstracts, pp. 350-350 (2018).
- [166] Rekier, J.; Trinh, A.; Triana, Santiago Andres; Laguerre, Raphael; Zhu, P.; Dehant, V. Viscous tidal dissipation in Enceladus's ocean Proc. EPSC 2018, 12 (2018).
- [167] Rivoldini, A.; Van Hoolst, T.; Beuthe, M.; Deproost, M.-H.; Baland, R.-M.; Yseboodt, M.; Le Maistre, S.; Peters, M.-J.; Dehant, V. *The internal structure of Mars inferred from nutation* Proc. EPSC 2018, 12 (2018).
- [168] Robert, S. ; Karatekin, O. ; Gloesener, E. ; Ruel, L. ; Giacomo Carrozzo, F. ; Altieri, F. ; Vandaele, A.C. ; Daerden, F. ; Thomas, I.R. ; Ristic, B. ; Bellucci, G. ; Patel, M.R. ; Lopez-Moreno, J.J. ; and the NOMAD, team *Definition of a surface index based on previous datasets, to be used on NOMAD/EMTGO spectra* European Planetary Science Congress - EPSC Abstracts , 12, pp. EPSC2018-722 (2018).
- [169] Signorile, Giovanna ; Sesia, Ilaria ; Defraigne, Pascale ; Tavella, Patrizia Galileo and GNSS Time Offsets
   Proceedings of the 32nd European Frequency and Time Forum, pp. 276-280 (2018).
- [170] van Leeuwen, F. ; de Bruijne, J. H. J. ; Arenou, F. ; Bakker, J. ; Blomme, R. ; Busso, G. ; Cacciari, C. ; Castañeda, J. ; Cellino, A. ; Clotet, M. ; Comoretto, G. ; Eyer, L. ; González-Núñez, J. ; Guy, L. ; Hambly, N. ; Hobbs, D. ; van Leeuwen, M. ; Luri, X. ; Manteiga, M. ; Pourbaix, D. ; Roegiers, T. ; Salgado, J. ; Sartoretti, P. ; Tanga, P. ; Ulla, A. ; Utrilla Molina, E. ; Abreu, A. ; Altmann, M. ; Andrae, R. ; Antoja, T. ; Audard, M. ; Babusiaux, C. ; Bailer-Jones, C. A. L. ; Barache, C. ; Bastian, U. ; Beck, M. ; Berthier, J. ; Bianchi, L. ; Biermann, M. ; Bombrun, A. ; Bossini, D. ; Breddels, M. ; Brown, A. G. A. ; Busonero, D. ; Butkevich, A. ; Cantat-Gaudin, T. ; Carrasco, J. M. ; Cheek, N. ; Clementini, G. ; Creevey, O. ; Crowley, C. ; David, M. ; Davidson, M. ; De Angeli, F. ; De Ridder, J. ; Delbò, M. ; Dell'Oro, A. ; Diakité, S. ; Distefano, E. ; Drimmel, R. ; Durán, J. ; Evans, D. W. ; Fabricius, C. ; Fabrizio, M. ; Fernández-Hernández, J. ; Findeisen, K. ; Fleitas, J. ; Fouesneau, M. ; Galluccio, L. ; Gracia-Abril, G. ; Guerra, R. ; Gutiérrez-Sánchez, R. ; Helmi, A. ; Hernandez, J. ; Holl, B. ; Hutton, A. ; Jean-Antoine-Piccolo, A. ; Jevardat de Fombelle, G. ; Joliet, E. ; Jordi, C. ; Juhász, Á. ; Klioner, S. ; Löffler, W. ; Lammers, U. ; Lanzafame, A. ; Lebzelter, T. ; Leclerc, N. ; Lecoeur-Taïbi, I. ; Lindegren, L. ; Marinoni, S. ; Marrese, P. M. ; Mary, N. ; Massari, D. ; Messineo, R. ;

Michalik, D.; Mignard, F.; Molinaro, R.; Molnár, L.; Montegriffo, P.; Mora, A.; Mowlavi, N.; Muinonen, K.; Muraveva, T.; Nienartowicz, K.; Ordenovic, C.; Pancino, E.; Panem, C.; Pauwels, T.; Petit, J.; Plachy, E.; Portell, J.; Racero, E.; Regibo, S.; Reylé, C.; Rimoldini, L.; Ripepi, V.; Riva, A.; Robichon, N.; Robin, A.; Roelens, M.; Romero-Gómez, M.; Sarro, L.; Seabroke, G.; Segovia, J. C.; Siddiqui, H.; Smart, R.; Smith, K.; Sordo, R.; Soria, S.; Spoto, F.; Stephenson, C.; Turon, C.; Vallenari, A.; Veljanoski, J.; Voutsinas, S. *Gaia DR2 documentation* Gaia DR2 documentation, European Space Agency; Gaia Data Processing and Analysis Consortium (2018).

- [171] Van Noten, Koen ; Burlet, Christian ; Delaby, Serge ; Verheyden, Sophie ; Lecocq, Thomas *Investigations géophysiques du plancher calcite et du remplissage sédimentaire de la Salle de la structure de Bruniquel*  Rapport Intermédiaire 2018 d'opération archéologique programmée Triennale 2018-20. SRA Occitanie., pp. 99-105 (2018).
- [172] Verbeeck, C. ; Lamy, H. ; Calders, S. ; Tétard, C. ; Martínez Picar, A. *Overview of major shower observations 2016-2017 by the BRAMS network*  Proceedings of the International Meteor Conference 2017, Petnica, Serbia, September 21-24 (2018).
- [173] Yseboodt, M.; Rivoldini, A.; Le Maistre, S.; Dehant, V. Uncertainty on the core radius of Mars from nutation estimation Proc. EPSC 2018, 12 (2018).

### **Other publications**

- [174] Bertrand, Bruno ; Defraigne, Pascale ; Verhasselt, Katrijn De tijd vliegt... de atomaire seconde bestaat al 50 jaar Helaal, 63 issue 1, pp. 2-7 (2018).
- [175] Bruyninx, C. ; Araszkiewicz, A. ; Brockmann, E. ; Kenyeres, A. ; Pacione, R. ; Söhne, W. ; Stangl, G. ; Szafranek, K. ; Völksen, C. *EPN Regional Network Associate Analysis Center Technical Report 2017* in International GNSS Service Technical Report 2017 (228 pages - Sc. Ed. A. Villiger and R. Dach, University of Bern - pp. 105-115), published in June 2018. DOI: 10.7892/boris.116377.
- [176] De Cruz, Lesley ; Pottiaux, Eric Improvement of Forecast Skill of the GLAMEPS Model in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (264-267 pages - Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland), 2018.
- [177] Defraigne, Pascale ; Verhasselt, Katrijn ; Bertrand, Bruno La seconde atomique : le temps d'un jubilé/ De atomaire seconde: tijd voor een jubileum Science Connection, 56, pp. 6-9 (2018).
- [178] Dehogne, L. ; et al., including ; Dehant, Veronique Fiches métiers et interviews du domaine "Sciences physiques et astronomiques" metiers.siep.be (2018)
- [179] Delouille, Veronique ; Hofmeister, Stefan J. ; Reiss, Martin A. ; Mampaey, Benjamin ; Temmer, Manuela ; Veronig, Astrid *Coronal Holes Detection Using Supervised Classification* in Machine Learning Techniques for Space Weather (31 pages - Sc. Ed. Enrico Camporeale, Simon Wing and Jay R. Johnson - pp. 365-395), 2018. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-811788-0.00015-9. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128117880000159?via%3Dihub
- [180] Kačmařík, Michal ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; Zus, Florian ; Brenot, Hugues ; Möller, Gregor ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Kapłon, Jan ; Hordyniec, Pavel ; Václavovic, Pavel ; Morel, Laurent Validation of Slant Tropospheric Delays in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland - pp. 85-97), 2018.
- [181] Langenaken, Hilde De briefwisseling van Adolphe Quetelet/La correspondance d'Adolphe Quetelet Science Connection issue 56, pp. 34-36 (2018).

### [182] Lobel, Alex Spectroscopie in de astrofysica Zenit Magazine, Stip Media, 2018 November Issue (in Dutch), 20 (2018).

- [183] Pauwels, Thierry Gaia op planetoidenjacht Zenit issue december, pp. 18-21 (2018).
- [184] Pauwels, T., Bruyninx, C., Roosbeek, F.,
  Annuaire de l'Observatoire royal de Belgique Jaarboek van de Koninklijke Sterrenwacht van België 2019
   Fedopress, ISSN 03734900, 2018.

#### [185] Pottiaux, Eric

### New Operational Solutions from ROB in Support to Global NWP Models and Rapid-Update Numerical Nowcasting

in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (201-203 pages - Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland), 2018.

### [186] Pottiaux, Eric

*Real-Time Product Development and Evaluation at ROB* in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland - pp. 119-127), 2018.

[187] Pottiaux, Eric ; van Schaeybroeck, Bert

CORDEX.be Reprocessing

in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland - pp. 183-185), 2018.

[188] Pottiaux, Eric ; Berckmans, Julie ; de Haan, Siebren ; Bruyninx, Carine A GNSS-Based Nowcasting Toolbox for Severe Weather in Belgium in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland - pp. 243-257), 2018.

### [189] Pottiaux, Eric ; Brenot, Hugues ; Van Malderen, Roeland National Status Reports: Belgium in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland - pp. 448-450), 2018.

- [190] ter Voorde, Marlies ; Van Camp, M.Waarom heeft men de aardbevingen in Groningen niet eerder voorspeld? Kennislink, 19/06/2018 (2018).
- [191] Van Camp, M. Dans les entrailles de la station sismique Vers l'Avenir, 10/09/2018, pp. 8 (2018).
- [192] Van Camp, M. *Een waterkrachtcentrale onder de grond* Kennislink, 20/09/2018 (2018).
- [193] Van Camp, M. Mesurer la transpiration des arbres, une avancée pour les modèles climatiques IGN Magazine, 92, pp. 24-26 (2018).
- [194] Van Camp, M. ; Ducarme, B. ; Van Ruymbeke, M. ; Defraigne, P. ; Hendrickx, M. ; Van der Putten, W. ; Alvarez, R. ; Vanneste, K. *Ca schtroumpfe à l'Observatoire royal de Belgique* Science Connection, 58 issue Octobre-Novembre, pp. 18-24 (2018).

- [195] Van Camp, M.; Ducarme, B.; Van Ruymbeke, M.; Defraigne, P.; Hendrickx, M.; Van der Putten, W.; Alvarez, R. Smurfen op de Koninklijke Sterrenwacht van België Science Connection, 58, pp. 18-25 (2018).
- [196] Van Malderen, Roeland ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Beirle, Stefen ; Stankunavicius, Gintas Noten, Koen Analysis of IWV Trends and Variability from GNSS and Satellite Data in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland - pp. 395-400), 2018.
- [197] Van Malderen, Roeland ; Elias, Michal ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Klos, Anna ; Bock, Olivier ; Bogusz, Janusz ; Chimani, Barbara ; Gruszczynska, Marta ; Guijarro, José ; Zengin Kazancı, Selma ; Ning, Tong

ZTD/IWV Homogenisation

in Advanced Global Navigation Satellite Systems Tropospheric Products for Monitoring Severe Weather Events and Climate - COST Action ES1206 Final Report (Sc. Ed. Jones, Jonathan ; Guerova, Guergana ; Douša, Jan ; Dick, Galina ; de Haan, Siebren ; Pottiaux, Eric ; Bock, Olivier ; Pacione, Rosa ; van Malderen, Roeland - pp. 356-368), 2018.

### [198] West, Matthew

Partial solar eclipse from space published in ESA Space In Images (2018). http://www.esa.int/spaceinimages/Images/2018/08/Partial solar eclipse from space

[199] West, Matthew

*The Sun in 2017* published in published in ESA Space In Images (2018). https://www.esa.int/spaceinimages/Images/2018/01/The Sun in 2017

## **Annex 2: Workforce**

On 31 December 2018, 166 employees are working in the Royal Observatory of Belgium (comprising people working at the Planetarium), of which 56 are women and 110 are men. This number is lower than in previous years (172 in 2017 and 179 in 2016).

As expected from a research institute, scientists constitute the main part of the personnel (89 agents at SW level). With the other university-level employees (employees of level A), they constitutes the main part of the staff (63 %). This reflects the fact that the expertise of the Royal Observatory of Belgium is based on scientific knowledge.



### ROB staff on 31 December 2018

60 % of the personnal are contractual. This is particularly true at the scientific level, where contractuals constitutes 73 % of the scientific staff. This is related to the fact that scientific research is mainly funded by external projects while the dotation is shrinking.



# Regarding language repartition, 39 % are Dutch-speaking people and 49 % are French-speaking people. 20 members of the scientific personnel (about 12 % of the staff), all of which being contractual, have a master in a different language than French and Dutch. This reflects the international character of the scientific environment.

### Comparison in statute and language 2018



More details about the ROB staff can be viewed in the following charts.



### **Statutory scientists 2018**





\* Other: Master's degree in a language other than French or Dutch

## Administrative and technical statutory staff 2018



### Administrative and technical contractual staff 2018

